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Chairman’s Statement £E &R S

To the Shareholders,

| would like to extend my sincere thanks to all of you for
supporting Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited
(the “Company”). On behalf of the board of directors (the
“Board”) of the Company, | am pleased to present you
the audited results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2012.

In 2001, Ms. Wu Ching, the founder of the Company,
established Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co.,
Ltd.(which was previously known as Longyan Changfeng
Mechanical Factory Co. Ltd.), which was engaged in
manufacture and sales of axle housings and other axle
components. Over the effort of the management in the past
years, the Company was successfully listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on
24 September 2010, thus tapping the international capital
market. This listing not only boosted the Company’s capital
base, but also strengthened our Group’s leading position
in the industry and enhanced the Company’s competitive
advantage, creating more business opportunities and giving
an impetus to the Group’s development.

Year 2012 was a challenging year due to the uncertainties
economic environment in China and around the world. The
medium and heavy truck industry in China was affected
by the slow down of construction and infrastructure
development projects and the tightening of credit policy.
Facing the less favorable truck industry environment in
China, for the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group
recorded a revenue of RMB503.8 million (2011: RMB920.7
million) and loss attributable to owners of the Company of
RMB459.3 million (2011: profit attributable to owners of the
Company of RMB59.8 million).
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During the year under review, the Group proactively faced
the challenge in its business. It expanded its product
offerings and strengthened its development and production
capability through enhancement of production bases. The
Group continued to implement quality control procedures
and enhance its research and development capabilities.

Looking forward, the Group expects business to continue
to be challenging in year 2013 under the uncertainty in the
China and global economic situation. The Group aims to
develop its local and overseas market in both train and truck
components. At the same time, the Group will continue
to strengthen its axle assemblies and related component
parts industry through the development in the domestic and
overseas medium and heavy duty truck markets. With the
good prospects in the train and railway industry together
with our strong research and development capabilities, the
Group will diversify and enhance its product range in order to
capture new opportunities in the domestic and international
railway industries. It is believe that the Group will achieve
better results and hence optimize return for shareholders.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to all shareholders,
customers, employees, suppliers and partners for their
continuous support and encouragement. We are committed
1o using the highest quality and technical standards and fully
utilize every opportunity to give returns to shareholders and
all teams for their long-term support.

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

27 March 2013
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Management Discussion and Analysis EZEztw Kk 2

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading independent axle component
provider for China’s medium duty truck (“MDT”) and heavy
duty truck (“HDT”) aftermarket, and also one of the largest
independent axle assembly providers for China’s MDT and
HDT original equipment manufacturers (“OEM”) market. The
Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sales
of axle assemblies and axle components in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC”).

The Group’s products cover all major axle components,
including cast steel and punched steel axle housings, brake
drums, axle shafts, axle differentials and reductors, steering
knuckles and front axle beams. An extensive range of front,
middle and rear axle assemblies and suspension assemblies
are also manufactured.

In December 2012, Kaifeng Changfeng Axle Company
Limited (“Kaifeng Changfeng”), a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, has achieved a new milestone for the
Group by obtaining accreditation as a supplier of the train
bolster and train side frame to the Commonwealth of
Independent States (“CIS”) and setting the platform for the
Group’s entrance into the international railway industry.
Through the effort of the casting experts and breakthrough
in the casting process of the Group, Kaifeng Changfeng
has obtained the Authentication of Production Certificate
(the “Certificate”) from the Authority of The Republic of
Belarus to manufacture the train bolster and train side frame
(the “train components”). The Certificate is valid for five
years. Upon obtaining the Certificate, Kaifeng Changfeng
became a qualified supplier of train components in the CIS
and is capable of supplying such train components to the
CIS countries. For further details regarding the Certificate,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 11
December 2012.

The Group has four production facilities in the PRC, one
of which is located in Kaifeng city, Henan province, two of
which are located in Longyan city, Fujian province and one of
which is located in Nanchong city, Sichuan province. Those
production facilities are strategically located in proximity to
primary suppliers and OEM customers so as to accelerate
the Group’s procurement process, reduce product delivery
time and transportation costs and improve logistical
efficiency to meet customers’ demands.
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MDT and HDT Aftermarket

The Group is the leading independent axle component
provider for China’s MDT and HDT aftermarket
with the most diversified product offerings among
independent axle component providers in China.
During the year ended 31 December 2012, the
axle components were sold to customers in the
aftermarket through its extensive sales, marketing and
services network across the PRC. For the year ended
31 December 2012, revenue generated from the aftermarket
amounted to approximately RMB239.3 million (2011:
approximately RMB538.1 million) and accounted for
approximately 47.5% (2011: approximately 58.4%) of
the Group’s total revenue, representing a decrease of
approximately 10.9% as compared with the corresponding
period last year.

MDT and HDT OEM market

The Group primarily sells axle assemblies directly to
OEMs in the PRC on a made-to-order basis to match its
customers’ specification requirements. A small portion
of axle components is occasionally sold to other axle
assembly providers. For the year ended 31 December 2012,
revenue from the OEM market amounted to approximately
RMB264.5 million (2011: approximately RMB382.6 million)
and accounted for 52.5% (2011: 41.6%) of the Group’s total
revenue, representing an increase of 10.9% as compared
with the corresponding period last year.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group recorded
a consolidated revenue of approximately RMB503.8 million
(2011: approximately RMB920.7 million), representing a
decrease of 45.3% as compared with the same period in
2011.

Revenue from the Group’s aftermarket segment decreased
by approximately 55.5% from RMB538.1 million in 2011
to RMB239.3 million in 2012. The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to (i) less favorable industry environment
caused by the slow down of construction and infrastructure
development projects in China, which hampered the
demand in the aftermarket industry; and (i) decrease in unit
selling price of certain products under keen competition
in the aftermarket industry. The keen competition in the
aftermarket industry was mainly due to the slow down of
demand in axle components industry and tightening of the
credit policy in China, as a result some of the competitors
sold their products at a low cost in order to maintain
cashflow liquidity.
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Revenue from the Group’s OEM and related market
segment decreased by approximately 30.9% from
RMB382.6 million in 2011 to RMB264.5 million in 2012. This
was mainly due to the decline in growth rate in the trucking
industry together with the delay in the launch of new trucks.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group’s gross
profit decreased by 65% from approximately RMB252.1
million in 2011 to approximately RMB88.3 million. Gross
profit margin decreased from approximately 27.4% in 2011
to approximately 17.5% in 2012 mainly due to the decrease
in average unit selling price under the keen competition
in selling prices in the truck industry, which increased
the Group’s pressure on the gross profit margin of the
Company.

Other income and other gains and losses

Other income of the Group decreased from approximately
RMB7.6 million in 2011 to other losses of approximately
RMB54.4 million in 2012, the decrease was mainly
attributable to the loss on sale of scrap materials and loss
from disposal of property, plant and equipment.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group increased
from approximately RMB26 million in 2011 to approximately
RMB28.2 million in 2012. The increase was mainly due to
the exploration of new customers, especially the new train
and railway business to Russia.

Research and development expenditure

Research and development expenditure of the Group
increased from approximately RMB13.8 million in 2011 to
approximately RMB70.2 million in 2012. The increase was
mainly due to the research and development in the Group’s
new train and railway business. As stated above, with the
Group’s strong presence in research and development,
the Group has obtained the requisite Certificate from the
Authority of the Republic of Belarus to manufacture and train
bolster and train side frame in December 2012.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased from
approximately RMB63.9 million in 2011 to approximately
RMB64.9 million in 2012. The increase in administrative
expenses was mainly due to the increase in expenses
incurred for operation of the new train and railway business
to Russia.
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Finance costs

The Group incurred finance costs of approximately
RMB39.4 million in 2012, which represented approximately
7.8% (2011: approximately 2.8%) of its revenue and an
increase of approximately 52.0% from RMB25.9 million
in 2011. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
average bank borrowing throughout year 2012.

Taxation
Tax charge decreased by approximately 95% from

RMB21.8 million in 2011 to RMB1.1 million in 2012 due to
the decreased profit during the year under review.

B8 A

AEERZE—ZFEEMNUFEERNAAREI048
BT GERADT8%(CE——F : 428%)  B_-F
——FHARB259BEITIBIMNE52.0%  EMEZHR
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES RBEERYBER
Summary of consolidated cash flow statement BERERERME
2012 2011
—E-—F —T—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARETT
Cash and cash equivalent at 1 January R—A—ANREMREEEER 134,450 518,105
Net cash from (used in) operating activities e RENFTS (FTA) e 558 56,636 (301,617)
Net cash used in investing activities KBRS RE T (90,967) (223,616)
Net cash (used in) from financing activities BEEB) (FTA) SR e /55 (38,247) 141,578
Cash and cash equivalent at 31 December R+ -A=+—HBHBRE N
ReHEER 61,872 134,450

Cash and cash equivalent of the Group were mainly
generated from the cash flow deriving from operating
activities and financing activities.

As at 31 December 2012, cash and cash equivalent of
the Group was approximately RMB61.9 million (2011:
approximately RMB134.4 million).

As compared with the year of 2011, cash and cash
equivalent decreased by approximately RMB72.5 million,
which was mainly resulted from the net cash outflow for
investing activities of approximately RMB91.0 million (2011:
approximately RMB223.6 million).

As at 31 December 2012, net current assets of the Group
was approximately RMB205.4 million (2011: approximately
RMB609.9 million). As at 31 December 2012, the current
ratio (i.e. total current assets / total current liabilities) of the
Group was approximately 130.9% (2011: approximately
187.7%).
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As at 31 December 2012, total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB1,764.9 million (2011: approximately
RMB2,305.6 million) and total liabilities were approximately
RMB664.7 million (2011: approximately RMB743.0 million).
As at 31 December 2012, the debt ratio (i.e. total liabilities/
total assets) was 37.7% (2011: 32.2%).

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had total borrowings
of approximately RMB498.6 million (2011: approximately
RMB495.9 million) and the gearing ratio (i.e. total borrowing/
total capital and reserve) was approximately 45.3% (2011:
approximately 31.7%).

The Group will continue to strengthen its liquidity and
financial resources through the improvement of the
working capital (especially collection of trade receivables)
and undrawn committed facilities to facilitate the Group’s
investment activities.

Trade and bills receivable

Trade and bills receivables of the Group in 2012 were
approximately RMB364.2 million (2011: RMB701.7
million). The decrease in balance was due to the decrease
in revenue, strengthen of the collection process through
closely monitor of those debtors and impairment loss on
trade receivables.

Inventory

The inventory balance of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2012 amounted to approximately RMB278.7
million (2011: approximately RMB323.7 million) which mainly
reflected the decrease in raw materials and finished goods
required for the decrease in market demand.

Trade and bills payable

Trade and bills payables of the Group in 2012 were
approximately RMB100.2 million (2011: approximately
RMB187.9 million). The decrease in balance was due to the
decrease in procurement of raw materials.

Pledged assets

As at 31 December 2012, the Group has pledged assets
of approximately RMB284.2 million (2011: approximately
269.6 million) to secure the grant of banking facilities. As at
31 December 2012, the Group did not pledge the equity
shares of any of its PRC subsidiaries as collateral to secure
bank borrowings (2011: Nil).
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Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had no significant
contingent liabilities (2011: Nil).

Capital commitment

As at 31 December 2012, the contracted capital
commitment of the Group which were not provided in the
financial statements amounted to approximately RMB28.6
million (2011: approximately RMB13.8 million). Such capital
commitments were mainly for the capital expenditure in
respect of upgrading and acquisition of certain production
equipment at our production facilities.

In 2011, Changfeng Gear Manufacturing Co., Ltd
(“Changfeng Gear”) was incorporated pursuant to the
cooperation agreement entered into by and between the
Group and an independent third party on 11 November
2010, pursuant to which the Group and an independent
third party, being the non-controlling shareholder of
Changefeng Gear, owns as to 60% and 40% of the equity
interest of Changfeng Gear, respectively. The Group made
a cash contribution of RMB60,000,000 to Changfeng Gear
whilst the non-controlling shareholder contributed new
machineries with an aggregate value of RMB40,000,000
to Changefeng Gear. The Group and the non-controlling
shareholder were committeed to inject an additional amount
of RMB60,000,000 and RMB40,000,000, respectively in the
year 2012. However, due to change in development plan,
on 31 December 2012, the Group and the non-controlling
shareholder entered into a supplemental agreement to
postpone the capital injection schedule to 31 December
20183. For further details regarding the supplemental
agreement, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 December 2012.

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had 1,837 employees
(2011: 1,867 employees). For the year ended 31 December
2012, total staff costs were approximately RMB70.0 million
(2011: approximately RMB73.5 million). The Group’s
staff costs remained relatively stable in the year ended 31
December 2012 as compared to the corresponding period
in 2011.

During the year under review, the Group also provided
internal training, external training and correspondence
courses for its staff in order to promote self improvement
and enhancement of skills relevant to work. The
remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference
to their position, responsibilities and experience and
prevailing market conditions.
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Foreign exchange risk

The business of the Group is mainly located in the PRC
and most of the transactions are denominated in Renminbi.
Most of the assets and liabilities of the Group are computed
in Renminbi. As at 31 December 2012, the Group’s foreign
currencies amounted to approximately RMB1.7 million
(2011: 6.8 million). During the year ended 31 December
2012, the Group did not utilize any future contracts, currency
borrowings and otherwise to hedge against its foreign
exchange risk. However, the Group will continue to monitor
the risk exposures and will consider to hedge against
material currency risk if required.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012 (2011: Nil).

PROSPECTS

Having faced with the increasing uncertainty in the global
economic situation and fierce competition in the China
truck market, the Company expects business to continue
to be challenging in year 2013. To ensure the sustaintable
success, the Group’s management has formulated various
strategies and measures to cope with these challenges.
The strategies and measures include diversifying the range
of the Group’s casting and punching products in other
industry, exploring the opportunities in overseas market and
improvement of the Group’s product quality management
program.

Looking forward, in light of the Group’s (i) recognition in
the overseas train and railway industry; (i) extensive sales,
marketing and services network among all axle component
providers in the aftermarket; (i) diversified axle component
offerings well recognized for high quality by customers; and
(iv) role as an independent provider of axle products in both
the aftermarket and OEM market, enhancing the cross-
marketing capabilities and maximising the sales and profit,
the Group strive to strengthen its position in the railway
and truck industry, to further expand its product offerings in
China, CIS and overseas market.

The Group will further enhance the following aspects in
order to increase its competitiveness within the market in the
upcoming years.

Expansion to overseas markets

In order to expand gradually into other overseas markets in
anticipation of overseas demand for the Group’s products
(both railways and truck components), the Company will
leverage its broad range of quality product offerings, product
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development capabilities and cost competitiveness, the
Group are well positioned to expand sales of its products
into other overseas markets. The Group will implement
its overseas expansion plan gradually through a variety of
efforts, including:

° exploring the new markets for its train and railway
products;

° diversifying and developing the new casting
and punching products to satisfy the customer
requirements in various industries and countries;

° developing new product models or modifying
its existing products to satisfy the specification
requirements of different types and models of vehicles
used overseas; and

o increasing the sales of its customized axle assemblies
in the overseas OEM market, upon identifying potential
OEM customers who may have a need for customized
axle assemblies.

Cost Control

The Group will make use of its four production facilities
located in the PRC which form an even broader strategic
production and distribution network for its products, so as
to efficiently control the production cost and logistic cost.
Besides, the Group will consolidate functional departments
and production lines to lower its administrative and
production cost. Furthermore, the Group will strategically
cooperate with suppliers in order to lengthen the credit
terms and reduce the purchase price.

Marketing Network

In order to enhance its market penetration of the train and
railway industry, MDT industry and HDT aftermarket, the
Group will (i) expand its overseas and local market by selling
components with higher margin with a view to increase
subsequent demand for their corresponding products; (i)
expand its extensive sales, marketing and services network
vertically and horizontally; and (jii) provide comprehensive
models and products offerings, with its strong brand
recognition.

Product Development

In order to increase the Group’s production efficiency and
improve its product development capabilities, the Group
strategically cooperates with various research institutions
in the PRC. Under such cooperations, new technology and
raw materials will be developed for the production of railway
and axle components.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (F#18), aged 49, was appointed as
the Director on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the
chairman and the executive Director on 28 June 2010. Mr.
Wong is responsible for the overall management, business
and strategic development, and major decision-making of
our Group. Mr. Wong has over 16 years of management
and operations experience in the automotive parts and axle
industry. Mr. Wong graduated from East China University of
Political Science and Law (ZERBUEAZ) with a bachelor’'s
degree in law in 1987 and worked for Longyan City
Public Security Bureau (3&M A% F) and Longyan City
Administration of Industry and Commerce (35 T LT
E12F) respectively until 1991. He then relocated to Hong
Kong in 1992. Mr. Wong served as the factory manager
of Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing Factory
(“Yongding Changfeng”) from 1993 to 2004 during which
he gained experience in management and administration.
Mr. Wong joined our Group in 2001 when his spouse, Ms.
Wu Ching, founded Fujian Changfeng. From 2008 onwards,
he has been the director and the general manager of Fujian
Changfeng. Mr. Wong has developed several patents
relating to axle components.

Ms. Wu Ching (#A&%), aged 48, was appointed as the
Director on 21 May 2008 and was re-designated as the
executive Director on 28 June 2010. Together with Mr.
Wong, Ms. Wu is responsible for overall management,
business and strategic development, and major decision-
making of our Group. Ms. Wu has over 16 years of
management and operations experience in the automotive
parts and axle industry. Ms. Wu graduated from Fujian
Normal University (@ # Al # X £) with a bachelor’s
degree in arts in 1985 and worked for Education Bureau
of Longyan (BEETMHE ) from 1986 to 1989. Ms. Wu
then relocated to Hong Kong in 1989. Ms. Wu worked for
Yongding Changfeng from 1993 to 2001 during which she
gained experience in management. Ms. Wu founded Fujian
Changfeng in March 2001. Since 2001, she has been the
chairperson of Fujian Changfeng. Ms. Wu is currently the
deputy chairperson of Longyan City Machinery Industry
Association (BBE M # W 1T %% €) and Longyan City
Association of Women Entrepreneurs (385 M Z ¥R
&) and a member of Yongding County CPPCC (K JE %%
H1%). Ms. Wu received the National Machinery Industry
Outstanding Entrepreneur (2B T EZEF D ER)
award in 2009 jointly by the China Machinery Industry
Federation (HF B #4% T 284 &) and the China Machinery
Enterprise Management Association (A Bl T 2 2EE
BHE).
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Mr. Lai Fengcai (®8[BI¥/), aged 36, has been appointed
as the chief executive officer and executive Director on
24 September 2010. Mr. Lai is responsible for overall
management, business and strategic development, major
decision-making, operations, sales and marketing, internal
control of our Group. Mr. Lai has worked in our Group
for nine years and he joined our Group as the head of the
production department of Fujian Changfeng in 2001. He
was promoted as the deputy general manager of Fujian
Changfeng in 2003 and was respectively in charge of
production, procurement, sales and marketing. From
2006 onwards, he has been the vice president of Fujian
Changfeng in charge of the day-to-day operations of Fujian
Changfeng. He has over 10 years of experience in operation
and management in the automotive parts and axle industry.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy (E278), aged 42, was appointed as
the Director on 6 August 2008 and was re-designated as
the non-executive Director on 28 June 2010. Ms. Dong has
over 16 years of experience in investments and corporate
finance. Ms. Dong is a managing partner of C.V. Starr
Investment Advisors (Asia) Limited and, prior to an internal
restructuring, Starr International Company (Asia), Limited
(together, “Starr Asia”). Prior to joining Starr Asia in 2007,
she served as a vice president at AIG Global Investment
Corp. (Shanghai) Ltd., a division of American International
Group, Inc, focusing on private equity in the PRC, and as
a director at Anglo Chinese Corporate Finance Limited and
the director of its Shanghai advisory company. Ms. Dong
received a bachelor’s degree in law from Shanghai University
(Fudan Sub-school) in the PRC in July 1992, and a Master
of Business Administration degree from McGill University,
Canada in June 1997. She was admitted as a Chartered
Financial Analyst in September 1999 and is a member of
the Hong Kong Society of Financial Analysts and the CFA
Institute.

Ms. Dong is a representative from Starr Investments
Cayman I, Inc. (“Starr Investments”) on our Board.
Following our Listing, Ms. Dong will be subject to the normal
retirement, re-election and removal processes applicable to
all other Directors as stipulated in the Articles.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Weizhou (512 M), aged 47, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Zhu graduated from East China University of
Political Science and Law (ZERBUE K E) with a bachelor’s
degree in law in 1987. Mr. Zhu has been the chairman of
Xifu Investment Co., Ltd. (FE 1% & AR A7) from October
2007 onwards. Mr. Zhu was a director of Gemdale Co., Ltd.
(=B AR A 7)), a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 600383), from November
2006 to April 2008. Mr. Zhu also served as an assistant
to the chairman of Guangsha Holdings Venture Capital
Co., Ltd. (EEZREIZEIZREBFRAF]), the controlling
shareholder of Zhejiang Guangsha Co., Ltd. (i TEE
& AR A E]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 600052), from August 2002 to
December 2008.

Dr. Li Xiuging (#55)5), aged 47, has been appointed as
the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Dr. Li received a doctor’'s degree in legal history, a
master’s degree in law and a bachelor’s degree in law from
East China University of Political Science and Law (3£ 3R BUE
KE) in June 2004, June 1990 and July 1987, respectively.
She is a professor of law and doctoral tutor at East China
University of Political Science and Law (2R EBUEAE). Dr.
Li is the chief editor of ECUPL Journal (£ B BUA A B E3R).
She was a visiting scholar at Oxford University from January
2008 to July 2003 and received the Shanghai Outstanding
Young Jurist (L/8TEFH EFF/EZER) award in 2006. Dr.
Li has published more than 30 articles in major law journals
in the PRC.

Mr. Chong Ching Hei (/8 &), aged 40, has been appointed
as the independent non-executive Director on 24 September
2010. Mr. Chong graduated from Hong Kong Polytechnic
University with a master’s degree in professional accounting in
December 2005. Mr. Chong has over 15 years of experience
in auditing and corporate financial services. Mr. Chong was
admitted as an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in October 1999. Mr. Chong
is currently the financial controller of Jianhua Concrete Pile
Holdings Limited. Prior to joining that Company, Mr. Chong
was a financial controller and company secretary of China
Water Property Group Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 2349). Mr. Chong was also the financial
controller and company secretary of Coastal Rapid Transit
Company Limited (/E/83BEE AR /A R]), the subsidiary of
Tianjin Development Holdings Limited whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 882), from April 2004 to
March 2006. Mr. Chong previously worked for Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu in Hong Kong for over seven years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang Jinwen (%54 3), aged 39, is the vice president.
Mr. Yang is responsible for daily operations, production,
distribution and product development for our Group. Mr.
Yang has worked in our Group for 10 years. He has over
ten years of experience in operation and management in
the automotive parts and axle industry. Mr. Yang graduated
from China Agricultural University (FREI 2% AE) with a
bachelor' s degree in heat engines (Z4 12 B)1) in 1996.
He was qualified as an intermediate mechanical engineer
in December 2003 by the Personnel Bureau of the city of
Longyan (825 A2 /3). He was responsible for technology
management at Longyan Pump and Nozzle Plant of Longma
Group of Fujian (B2 S S E A ME M EM) from
August 1996 to February 2002.

Mr. Chan Wai Shing (FR1&5%), aged 33, is the chief financial
officer, company secretary and one of our authorized
representatives. Mr. Chan is responsible for corporate
finance, legal, auditing, accounting, investor and public
relations, and administration of our Group. Mr. Chan
joined our Group in September 2009. He graduated from
City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree
in accountancy in 2001 and his master’s degree in
financial analysis at the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in 2012. Mr. Chan has over 10 years of
experience in auditing, advisory accounting and financial
management. He worked for Techtronic Industries
Company Limited whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 669) from October 2008 to August
2009. Mr. Chan worked for Ernst & Young from September
2001 to October 2008. Mr. Chan was qualified as a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants in September 2005 and he was
admitted as a fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in November 2009.
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The Board is pleased to present the annual report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2012,

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on
21 May 2008 under The Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands
with (“Companies Law”) with limited liability.

In preparing for the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, the Group has
undergone a reorganization since 16 April 2008. As a result,
the Company became the holding company of each of the
companies currently comprising the Group. Details of the
reorganization are set out in the prospectus of the Company
dated 13 September 2010. The shares of the Company
were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 24
September 2010.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set
out in note 31 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year under review.

RESULTS AND DISTRIBUTION

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2012 are set out in the financial statements on page 47.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2012 is set out on
page 47-48.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2012 is set out on page 49.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2012, there is no distributable reserves
held by the Company.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Changes in share capital of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2012 are set out in note 25 to the financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles
of association of the Company (the “Articles”) or the laws of
Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares to existing shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing passed by all
shareholders of the Company on 28 June 2010, the
Company approved and adopted a share option scheme
for the purpose of enabling the Group to grant options
to selected participants as incentives or rewards for their
contribution to the Group (the “Share Option Scheme”).
During the year ended 31 December 2012, no share option
had been granted under the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
Shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme
was 80,000,000 Shares, which represented 10% of the
Shares in issue.

The Share Option Scheme became effective on 24
September 2010 and the options issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme will expire no later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the option. Under the Share Option
Scheme, the Board may grant options to any employees,
directors, advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers,
distributors and such other persons who in the sole opinion
of the Board will contribute or have contributed to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries to subscribe shares of the
Company.

For any options granted to Directors, chief executives
or substantial shareholders of the Company, options to
be granted shall be approved by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding any independent non-
executive Director who is the proposed grantee of options).

The number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the total shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the shareholders.
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The amount payable on acceptance of an option is
HK$1.00, which will be payable on or before a prescribed
acceptance date. In relation to any options granted under
the Share Option Scheme, the exercise price is determined
by the Directors, and will not be less than the higher of (i)
the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of
grant; (i) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

The Share Option Scheme does not contain any minimum
period(s) for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. However, at the time of granting of the options,
the Board may specify any such minimum period(s).

Unless otherwise terminated by the Board or the
shareholders in general meeting in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from the date on
which it becomes unconditional which was 24 September
2010, after which no further options will be granted or
offered but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect to the extent necessary to
give effect to the exercise of any subsisting options granted
prior to the expiry of the 10-year period or otherwise as may
be required in accordance with the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

A share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) was
adopted on 10 February 2012 to recognize and motivate
the contributions made to the Group by its employees
and to give incentives in order to retain them for the
continuous operation and development of the Group. As
at 31 December 2012, no share had been awarded under
the Share Award Scheme. Details of the rules of the Share
Award Scheme are set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 February 2012.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 5 years commencing on the date of adoption on
10 February 2012. Pursuant to the Share Award Scheme,
shares will be acquired by the independent trustee at the
cost of the Company and be held in trust for selected
employees until the end of each vesting period. Vested
shares will be transferred to the selected employees at nil
consideration. At no point in time shall the Trustee be holding
more than 10% of the issued capital of the Company under
the Share Award Scheme.
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

During the year under review, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers comprised
approximately 28.4% of the Group’s total sales and
the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer
were approximately 11.1% of the Group’s total sales.
The aggregate purchases during the year under review
attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers were
approximately 26.1% of the Group’s cost of sales and the
purchases attributable to the Group’s largest supplier were
approximately 6.9% of the Group’s cost of sales.

So far as is known to the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or substantial shareholders owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital nor had
any interest in the share capital of any of the five largest
customers and suppliers of the Group.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2012 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DONATIONS

The Group did not make any charitable and other donations
during the year under review (2011: approximately RMBNIl).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group held
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB578.2
million. Details of the movements are set out in note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S SHARES

The Company has not redeemed any of its listed shares
during the year ended 31 December 2012. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
repurchased any of the listed shares of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2012.
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DIRECTORS

During the year under review and as at the date of this report,
the Board comprises of directors:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Ching

Mr. Lai Fengcai

Non-executive Directors:
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Zhu Weizhou

Dr. Li Xinging

Mr. Chong Ching Hei

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, each of Ms.
Wu Ching, Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy and and Dr. Li Xinging
will retire from the office of Director by rotation and, being
eligible, will offer himself/herself for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and the non-executive
Director has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial term of three years commencing from
24 September 2010, whereas each of the independent non-
executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company and is appointed for an initial term of three
years commencing from 24 September 2010.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with any member of the Group which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) and considers all the independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends
to the Board the remuneration and other benefits paid
by the Company to the Directors. The remuneration
of all Directors is subject to regular monitoring by the
Remuneration Committee to ensure that the levels of their
remuneration and compensation are appropriate. Details of
Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 13 to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 14 to
17 of the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected
Transactions”, there was no contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party to and in which a Director
had a material interest in, whether directly or indirectly,
and subsisted at the end of the financial year under review
or at any time during the financial year under review save
as disclosed under the section headed “Related Party
Disclosures” below and note 30 to the financial statements.

DIRECTOR’S INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors held any interests in any competing
business against the Company or any of its jointly controlled
entities and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December
2012.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year under review were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in
or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such
rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding
company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a
party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire
such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries of the Company as of
31 December 2012 are set out in note 31 to the financial
statements.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2012, the interests or short positions of
each Director and chief executive in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its any associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“SFO”)) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which are being taken or deemed to have
taken under such provision of the SFO); or were required
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be entered in the
register referred to therein; or were required pursuant to
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
the Company (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange were as follows:

(i) Interestin our Company

RAFEERESITRAERKRSD - HERSG RESF
SRR E

RZB——F+-A=+—H0 BEZRESTBRABRK
REHEAREE (ER L EBENE 571 EES LI K
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R E FAR SRR MR IAR) - IMRBEE S MR
{631 55 362 IR /R AL 8RO fi FﬁLAuEHﬁE’Wé SRR 3
RIE EAR A0 B AR R EFRITESR HNIRE
A (12 A1) AR A D 7 BP0 iaS ROAR I
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() RELFHER

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Director Nature of Interest Securities shareholding
E=E8 REmME E5HE BHRETD L
Wu Ching (Note) Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60%
- corporation
HAEE (MIE1) SN
Wong Kwai Mo (Note) Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60%
corporation
FER () R EE R

Note: Each of Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo holds 50% of the
issued share capital of Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.
(“Changfeng BVI").

(ii) Interest in associated corporations

Wit : BEF R T IHIEE B #38 50%Changfeng Axle Holdings
Ltd. ([ EBVI]) E&TIRA -

(i) REBEZENEDS

Name of associated Number of Percentage
Name of Director corporation shares Shareholding
ExE8 HEEE SR RBEE RETSLE
Wu Ching Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
HREH 5L BVI
Wong Kwai Mo Changfeng BVI 25,000 50%
e HE BV
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR
As at 31 December 2012, the following persons had RZTE——F+-A=+—H8 AROTEEREZFR

interests and short positions of 5% or more in the Shares as
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:

BB 6515 336 BT B 2 B M mEt ek 2 5% s LA Lz
KB ALTIOT ¢
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Long positions in the Shares and underlying Shares of AERATROBRAEABRAHETR
our Company
Approximate
Interests in percentage
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares shareholding Notes
B RE
IR EB ERME I3 R Aok {iEs
Changfeng BVI Beneficial owner 404,762,592 50.60% 1
S BV EnBEEA
Wu Ching Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60% 1
tAE: corporation
R LB R
Wong Kwai Mo Interest of a controlled 404,762,592 50.60% 1
THEE corporation
RIEEE
Starr International Foundation Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
R AR
Starr International AG Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
SR LB R
Starr International Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
R LB R
Starr International Investments Ltd Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
RIEEE
Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
R AR
Starr International Cayman, Inc. Interest of a controlled 114,801,600 14.35% 2
corporation
SR LB R
Starr Investments Cayman II, Inc. Beneficial owner 114,801,600 14.35% 2
EnEEA
China Construction Bank Corporation Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77% 3
FREERIRITRDBRAR] corporation
R LB R
CCB International Group Holdings Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77% 3
Limited corporation
BITRIR SEERER AR R AR
CCB Financial Holdings Limited Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77% 3
BITSRUERBR AR corporation
R AR
CCB International (Holdings) Limited Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77% 3

FEEREIRR (B3R BR A A

corporation
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Approximate

Interests in percentage
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares shareholding Notes
AR
REEH ERME IR A7 = Ak M =E
CCB International Asset Management Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77% 3
Limited corporation
RIREFEEERGRAR Ry EE R
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Interest of a controlled 406,128,560 50.77% 3
FRIESIKEFRAT] corporation
SN
Wan Tai Investments Limited Security interests 406,128,560 50.77% 3

BHRREBRAA B
Notes:

(1) Changfeng BVI is owned as to 50% by Wu Ching and as to 50%
by Wong Kwai Mo. Both Wu Ching and Wong Kwai Mo are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Changfeng BV for
the purpose of the SFO.

2 Starr Investments is wholly-owned by Starr International Cayman,
Inc., which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd.. Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Starr International Investments Ltd.,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Starr International Company Inc.
(“Starr International”). Starr International is wholly-owned by Starr
International AG, which is wholly-owned by Starr International
Foundation, a charitable foundation established in Switzerland.
Each of Starr International Foundation, Starr International AG,
Starr International, Starr International Investments Ltd., Starr
Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. and Starr International Cayman,
Inc. is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Starr
Investments for the purpose of the SFO.

©) Wan Tai Investments Limited is wholly-owned by CCB
International Asset Management Limited. CCB International
Asset Management Limited is wholly-owned by CCB International
(Holdings) Limited. CCB International (Holdings) Limited is
wholly-owned by CCB Financial Holdings Limited. CCB Financial
Holdings Limited is wholly-owned by CCB International Group
Holdings Limited. CCB International Group Holdings Limited is
wholly-owned by China Construction Bank Corporation which
is ultimately indirectly owned by Central Huijin Investment Ltd..
Accordingly, each of CCB International Asset Management
Limited, CCB International (Holdings) Limited, CCB Financial
Holdings Limited, CCB International Group Holdings Limited,
China Construction Bank Corporation and Central Huijin
Investment Ltd is deemed to be interested in the security interests
held by Wan Tai Investments Limited, for the purpose of the SFO.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 December 2012,

Hrat -

(1) BEEBVIAHEFER 50% #zm R A FIEEES 50% #m - 1R
B REEIEG) - AEFE T IR BB 5L BVIFT#EH R
AR ©

(2)  Starr Investments | Starr International Cayman, Inc. 2 & #
& - Starr International Cayman, Inc. #1 Starr Insurance and
Reinsurance Ltd. & # & ° Starr Insurance and Reinsurance
Ltd. Starr International Investments Ltd.#2 & H1E 2 7] - Starr
International Investments Ltd. £ Starr International Company
Inc. ([Starr International /) & ##& ° Starr International #
Starr International AG & # & - Starr International AG #
Starr International Foundation (Rig1 v #IzZERE) 2 &
HH o IRIEEZRRHIE ) - Starr International Foundation
Starr International AG ~ Starr International ~ Starr International
Investments Ltd. - Starr Insurance and Reinsurance Ltd. % Starr
International Cayman, Inc. % B # 1% A# & Starr InvestmentsfT#
BRI

@B EBHAREBFRAAHZRELEEEEFRIL A2 EHE
RS EEEEHRN 5]l EREIE (R FIR L 7] £ EHE
B o ERER (1FR) BIRA FIHETT 2 BIERBIR 2L ]2 B
B o BITEBIEREIRA AIHE T B FEZERBIR 2 Al 2 &
HE o BITERE BTG IR A ] o B2 R RTTAR (D AR 2
A2 EHE - M EZERRTTIRD AR AT RETIRER
R FIRAEIEIER o Bl IREFEZ RBENR] - 2R B
BEEHERAF] - EREE (FR)BR A - ZiTEBER
BRAA] - EITEREEEREGRAE] - A EZERRTRNE
RAFIRPRIELREBRAAE G W REEERKREER
REITFFER A E s

ABFREZR
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RETIREMENT SCHEME

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement
scheme administered by independent trustees. Under the
MPF Scheme, each of the employer and employee are
required to make contributions of 5% of the employees’
relevant income to the scheme, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$20,000. Contributions made to the
scheme are vested immediately.

The employees of the subsidiaries in the People’s Republic
of China participate in the retirement schemes operated
by the local authorities. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their salaries to
these schemes to pay the benefits. The only obligation
of the Group in respect to these schemes is the required
contributions under the schemes.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group’s total
contributions to the retirement schemes charged in the
income statement amounted to approximately RMB7.5
million (2011: approximately RMB8.4 million). Details of the
Group’s pension scheme and the basis of calculation are set
out in note 11 to the financial statements.

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a
view to enhancing investor confidence and the Company’s
accountability and transparency. The Company therefore
strives to attain and maintain effective corporate governance
practices and procedures. Throughout the year ended 31
December 2012 and save as disclosed herein this report,
the Company has complied with the CG Code contained
in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Group’s principal
corporate governance practices are set out on pages 33 to
44 of the annual report.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Group
entered into the following continuing transactions with
its connected persons. The transactions constituted
“continuing connected transactions” for the Company
under the Listing Rules. The transactions are subject to the
reporting requirements set out in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING,
ANNOUNCEMENT AND INDEPENDENT
SHAREHOLDERS’ APPROVAL REQUIREMENTS

1.

Purchase of roughcast axle housing from
Yongding Changfeng Machinery Manufacturing
Factory (“Yongding Changfeng”)

On 29 May 2010, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with
Yongding Changfeng, pursuant to which the Company
agreed to purchase or procure its subsidiaries to
purchase roughcast axle housing from Yongding
Changfeng for the production of the products for a
term of three years commencing from 1 January 2010
to 31 December 2012. Subsequently on 24 December
2012, the parties entered into a renewal agreement to
renew the terms of the Purchase Agreement for a fixed
term of another three years expiring on 31 December
2015.

The price for the roughcast axle housing supplied
by Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

o the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

° the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

° the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

° the price which is no less favourable to the
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.

Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.

During the year under review, the actual aggregate
amount of transactions under the Purchase
Agreement was approximately RMB18.8 million
and the annual cap amount granted by the Stock
Exchange was RMB25 million.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
WHICH ARE SUBJECT TO THE REPORTING AND
ANNOUNCEMENT REQUIREMENTS BUT EXEMPT
FROM THE INDEPENDENT SHAREHOLDERS’
APPROVAL REQUIREMENT

2.

Supply Agreement with Yongding Changfeng

On 29 May 2010, the Company entered into a supply
agreement (the “Supply Agreement”) with Yongding
Changfeng, pursuant to which the Company has
agreed to supply or procure members of the Group
to supply scrap steel which is steel waste created
during the production of steel and expected to be
disposed of or not required by the Group to Yongding
Changfeng for a term of three years commencing from
1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012. Subsequently
on 24 December 2012, the parties entered into a
renewal agreement to renew the terms of the Supply
Agreement for a fixed term of another three years
expiring on 31 December 2015.

The price for the scrap steel supplied by the Group
to Yongding Changfeng will be determined on the
following basis in order of priority:

o the price prescribed by the State (including
any price prescribed by any relevant local
authorities), if applicable;

o the price recommended under the State pricing
guidelines, when no State-prescribed price is
available;

° the market price, when neither the State-
prescribed price nor the State recommended
price is available; or

° the price which is no less favorable to the
Group than is available from independent third
parties, when none of the above is available or
applicable.

Mr. Lu is a cousin of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, being one
of the controlling shareholders of the Company. As
Yongding Changfeng may be substantially influenced
or controlled by Mr. Lu, who is the legal representative
and the factory manager of Yongding Changfeng, and
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, who has held a prior position and
role at Yongding Changfeng, Yongding Changfeng
is therefore deemed as a connected person of our
Company pursuant to Rules 14A.06 and 14A.11(4) of
the Listing Rules.
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During the year under review, the actual aggregate
amounts of transaction under Supply Agreement was
approximately RMB4.6 million and the annual cap
amount granted by the Stock Exchange was RMB20
million.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the
Board has engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of
the continuing connected transactions of the Group.
The auditor has reported its factual findings on these
procedures to the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions and the report of the auditor.

Based on the work performed, the auditors of the
Company confirmed to the Board that the above
continuing connected transactions:

(i) have been approved by the Board;

(i) are in accordance with the pricing policy of the
Group;

(i) have been entered into under the terms of the
related agreements governing the transactions;
and

(iv)  have not exceeded the relevant cap amount
allowed by the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have
reviewed the above connected continuing
transactions and are in the opinion that the above
continuing connected transactions entered into by the
Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of
the Group;

(i) either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b)
where there is no available comparison, on
terms that are no less favorable to the Group
than terms to or from independent third parties;
and

(i)  in accordance with the agreements governing
the transactions on terms that are fair and
reasonable so far as the shareholders of the
Company.

Other than disclosed above, there was no other
transaction which needs to be disclosed as connected
transaction in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December
2012,
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company has received, from each of the controlling
shareholders of the Company, an annual declaration on
his/her/its compliance with the undertakings contained in
the Deed of Non-Competition entered into by each of them
in favour of the Company pursuant to which each of the
controlling shareholders of the Company has undertaken to
the Company that he/she/it will not and will procure that his/
her/its associates (other than members of the Group) not to,
engage in any of our business including (without limitation)
the following activities:

° acquiring, holding, developing, transferring, disposing
or otherwise dealing in, whether directly or indirectly,
axle components business or related investments;

° engaging, having a right or in any way having an
economic interest, in the promotion or development of
or investment in axle components business; or

° acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or otherwise
dealing in any option, right or interest over any of the
matters set out in the two paragraphs above;

except for acquiring, holding, transferring, disposing or
otherwise dealing in, directly or indirectly, shares of any
company, joint venture, corporation or entity of any nature,
whether or not incorporated, with any interest in the matters
set out in the three paragraphs above so long as their
aggregate interest in any such entity is less than 5% of its
equity interest.

Details of the Deed of Non-Competition were disclosed in
the Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship with
Our Controlling Shareholders”.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
and were satisfied that each of the controlling shareholders
of the Company has complied with the Deed of Non-
Competition for the year ended 31 December 2012.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 4 June, 2013 to Friday, 7 June 2013, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to determine who are entitled to attend
and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Friday, 7 June 2013, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share
registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong for registration no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 June 2013.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit
Committee”) had reviewed together with the management
and external auditors the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the audited annual consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2012.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2012 have been audited by Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu who shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company
to re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor of the
Company.

By order of the Board

Wong Kwai Mo
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2013
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance
Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31
December 2012.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures with a view
to being a transparent and responsible organization which
is open and accountable to the Company’s shareholders.
The Board strives to adhere to the principles of corporate
governance and has adopted sound corporate governance
practices to meet the legal and commercial standards,
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure
and accountability to all shareholders to ensure the
transparency and accountability of all operations of the
Company. The Company believes that effective corporate
governance is an essential factor to create more value for its
shareholders. The Board will continue to review and improve
the corporate governance practices of the Group from time
to time to ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board
in order to optimize return for shareholders.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company has complied
with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2012.

THE BOARD

The Board consists of seven Directors, three of whom
are executive Directors, one of whom is non-executive
Director and three of whom are independent non-executive
Directors. The functions and duties conferred on the Board
include convening shareholders’ meetings and reporting on
the work of the Board to the shareholders at shareholders’
meetings as may be required by applicable laws,
implementing resolutions passed at shareholders’ meetings,
determining the Company’s business plans and investment
plans, formulating the Company’s annual budget and final
accounts, formulating the Company’s proposals for dividend
and bonus distributions as well as exercising other powers,
functions and duties as conferred on it by the Articles and
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applicable laws. The senior management is delegated the
authority and responsibilities by the Board for the day-
to-day management and operations of the Group. The
Board meets regularly to review the financial and operating
performance of the Company, and considers and approves
the overall strategies and policies of the Company. The
composition of the Board is well balanced with the directors
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and
strategic planning experience and/or expertise relevant to
the business of the Group. The executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors bring a variety of
experience and expertise to the Company.

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31
December 2012 and up to the date of this Annual Report is
set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo
Ms. Wu Ching

Mr. Lai Fengcai

(Chairman)
(Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Weizhou

Dr. Li Xiuging

Mr. Chong Ching Hei

The biographical details of the current Board members are
set out under the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 14 to 17 of this report.

The list of directors (by category) is also disclosed in
all corporate communications issued by the Company
pursuant to the Listing Rules from time to time. The
independent non-executive directors are expressly identified
in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing
Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the Board at all
times met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications
or accounting or related financial management expertise,
and the independent non-executive directors represented
over one-third of the Board.
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The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of its independent non-executive
Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmation, the Company
considers that the three independent non-executive
Directors are independent and that they have met the
specific independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

All Directors have separate and independent access to the
Company’s senior management to fulfill their duties and,
upon reasonable request, to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense. All Directors also have access to the company
secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board
procedures, and all applicable rules and regulations, are
followed. An agenda and accompanying Board/committee
papers are distributed to the Directors/Board committee
members with reasonable notice in advance of the meetings.
Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board
committees, which records in sufficient detail the matters
considered by the Board and decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views
expressed, are kept by the company secretary and are open
for inspection by Directors.

The Company has arranged for appropriate and sufficient
insurance coverage on directors’ liabilities in respect of legal
actions taken against its directors arising out of corporate
activities.

The Board meets regularly to review the financial and
operating performance of the Company, and considers and
approves the overall strategies and policies of the Company.

Mr. Wong Kwai Mo is the husband of Ms. Wu Ching, and
Ms. Wu Ching is the wife of Mr. Wong Kwai Mo. Save as
disclosed, there is no other relationship among members of
the Board.

Non-executive Directors

The non-executive Director has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years
commencing from 24 September 2010, whereas each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company and is appointed
for an initial term of three years commencing from 24
September 2010.
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In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, at each annual
general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number
nearest to but not less than one third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at least once every three years.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the roles and
duties of the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company are carried out by different individuals and have
been clearly defined in writing.

The Chairman of the Board is Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, and the
Chief Executive Officer is Mr. Lai Fengcai. The positions of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by separate
persons in order to preserve independence and a balance
of views and judgement. With the support of the senior
management, the Chairman is responsible for ensuring
that the directors receive adequate, complete and reliable
information in a timely manner and appropriate briefing on
issues arising at Board meetings. The Chief Executive Officer
focuses on implementing objectives, policies and strategies
approved and delegated by the Board. He is in charge of
the Company’s day-to-day management and operations.
The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for developing
strategic plans and formulating the organizational structure,
control systems and internal procedures and processes for
the Board’s approval.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors keep abreast of responsibilities as a director of
the Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal,
comprehensive and tailored induction on the first occasion
of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate understanding
of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations
under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. All directors
are encouraged to attend relevant training courses at the
Company’s expenses.
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During the year ended 31 December 2012, there were
one in-house seminars conducted covering the topics
of directors’ duties, corporate governance practices and
disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules and SFO
of which all the directors of the Company had attended.
In addition, some of the directors also attended external
seminars and/or conferences organized during the year
under review. All directors also read materials in relation to
regular update to statutory requirements, listing rules and
other relevant topics related to listed company.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of sound corporate governance practices,
the Board has established the following Board committees
to oversee the particular aspects of the Group’s affairs. Each
of these committees comprises independent non-executive
Directors who are being invited to join as members.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in compliance with
Rules 3.21 and 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
monitor the Company’s financial reporting and internal
control principles of the Company and to provide advice
and comments to the Board. The members meet regularly
with the external auditors and the Company’s senior
management for the review, supervision and discussion
of the Company’s financial reporting and internal control
procedures and ensure that management has discharged its
duty to have an effective internal control system. The Audit
Committee consists of three members, namely Mr. Chong
Ching Hei, Mr. Zhu Weizhou and Dr. Li Xiuging, of which are
all independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Chong Ching
Hei, who has appropriate professional qualifications and
experience in accounting matters, was appointed as the
chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held two meeting during the year under
review to review the financial results of the Group and Significant
Issues on the financial reporting and compliance procedures,
internal control and risk management systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2012, including the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group, selection and appointment
of the external auditors.
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Corporate Governance Functions

During the period under review, the Audit Committee is
also responsible for determining the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company performing the corporate
governance duties as below:

o to develop and review the Group’s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make
recommendations;

° to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of the directors and senior
management;

° to review and monitor the Group’s policies and
practices on compliance with all legal and regulatory
requirements (where applicable);

° to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and directors of the Group; and

° to review the Group’s compliance with the CG
Code and disclosure requirements in the Corporate
Governance Report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) was established on 24
September 2010 with written terms of reference in
compliance with the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee is chaired by Mr. Zhu Weizhou with two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chong
Ching Hei and Mr. Wong Kwai Mo, as members. The
principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
are to formulate and recommend remuneration policy
to the Board, to make recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for all directors
and senior management remuneration, approve and
review management’s proposals with reference to the
Board’s corporate goals and objectives and the make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive directors of the Company. The Board expects
the Remuneration Committee to exercise independent
judgment and ensures that executive Directors do not
participate in the determination of their own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee held one committee
meeting during the year under review to review and make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration policy
and structure of the Company and remuneration packages
of directors and senior management.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) was established on 24 September
2010. The chairman is Dr. Li Xiuging, an independent
non-executive Director, and the two other members are
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo and Zhu Weizhou, both of them are
independent nonexecutive Directors. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size
and composition of the Board, making recommendation
to the Board on selection of candidates for directorships,
appointment, reappointment of Directors and Board
succession and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during
the year under review to review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’
ATTENDANCE

The individual attendance record of each Director at the
meetings of the Board, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee and the general
meeting of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2012 is set out below:
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Annual
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting
Exeed ENZEEE FMzEE REZEE KRRBEAS
Executive directors HITEZE
Mr. Wong Kwai Ho (Chairman) FHERE(FE) 777 N/ATER il 11 1
Ms. Wu Ching i3 /7 N/ANER N/A T iE R N/A T 1A
Mr. Lai Fengcal BEXEE 777 N/A T N/A T iE N/A T 0/1
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Ms. Dong Ying, Dorothy ERuL 6/7 N/A TNE N/A TN N/A 1@ A 0/1
Independent non-executive Directors BUHNTEE
Mr. Zhu Weizhou KEMNEE 6/7 2/2 1/1 1/1 0/
Dr. Li Xiuging EEEEL 777 2/2 N/A TiER 11 0/1
Mr. Chong Ching Hei WEEESE 777 2/2 11 N/A i 0/1
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Code Provision A.6.7 of the CG Code provides that the
independent non-executive directors and non-executive
directors should attend general meetings of the Company.
Due to prior business engagements external to the
Company, the non-executive Director, Ms. Dong Ying,
Dorothy and the independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Zhu Weizhou, Dr. Li Xiuging and Mr. Chong Ching Hei were
unable to attend the annual general meeting of the Company
held during the year ended 31 December 2012.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as its own
code of conduct for securities transactions. Specific
enquiries have been made with all Directors, who have
confirmed that, during the period under review, they were in
compliance with the required provisions set out in the Model
Code. All Directors declared that they have complied with
the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2012.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparation of the financial statements for the financial year
ended 31 December 2012 which give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group at
that date and of the Group’s results and cash flows for the
year then ended and are properly prepared on the going
concern basis in accordance with the applicable statutory
requirements and accounting standards. The statement of
the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2012, the remuneration
paid or payable to the Group’s auditors, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu, in respect of their audit and non-audit services
are as follows:
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Items Amount
EH ot}
(RMB’000)

(ARET )

Statutory audit services TETE B RS 1,582
Non-audit services IERZERTS -
Total “BE 1,582

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems in order to safeguard the Group’s
assets and shareholders’ interests, and review and monitor
the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control and risk
management systems on a regular basis so as to ensure that
internal control and risk management systems in place are
adequate. The Company has established written policies
and procedures applicable to all operating units to ensure
the effectiveness of internal controls. The Company also
has a process for identifying, evaluating, and managing
the significant risks to the achievement of its operational
objective. This process is subject to continuous improvement
and was in place since 24 September 2010 and up to the
date of this report. The day-to-day operation is entrusted to
the individual department, which is accountable for its own
conduct and performance, and is required to strictly adhere
to the policies set by the Board. The Company carries out
reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control systems
from time to time in order to ensure that they are able to
meet and deal with the dynamic and ever changing business
environment.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted
a review and assessment of the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control systems including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
for the year ended 31 December 2012. Internal Control
department was assigned to assist the Board to perform
high-level review of the internal control systems for its
business operations and processes. Such review covered
the financial, compliance and operational controls as well as
risk management mechanisms and assessment was made
by discussions with the management of the Company and
its external auditors. The Board believes that the existing
internal control system is adequate and effective.
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO
REQUISITION AND CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (INCLUDING PROPOSING A
RESOLUTION AT AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING)

o Any two or more shareholders holding at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company
(the “Eligible Shareholders”) shall at all times have the
right, by a written requisition signed by the Eligible
Shareholders concerned (the “Requisition”), to require
the Board to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, and to put any resolution so requisitioned to
vote at such extraordinary general meeting.

o Eligible Shareholders who wish to requisition the
Board to convene an extraordinary general meeting
for the purpose of proposing a resolution at the
extraordinary general meeting must deposit the
Requisition at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong at Room 708, 7/F, Delta
House, 3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, Hong Kong.

° The Requisition must state clearly the names of
the Eligible Shareholders concerned, specify the
objects of the meeting, and be signed by the Eligible
Shareholders concerned. The Eligible Shareholders
must prove their shareholdings in the Company to the
satisfaction of the Company.

° The Company will check the Requisition and the
identities and the shareholdings of the Eligible
Shareholders will be verified with the Company’s
branch share registrar. If the Requisition is found
to be proper and in order and in compliance with
the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company, the Board will within 21 days of the date of
deposit of the Requisition, proceed duly to convene
an extraordinary general meeting to be held within
a further 21 days, for the purpose of putting any
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholders to
vote at such extraordinary general meeting. However,
if the Requisition has been verified as not in order
and not in compliance with the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company, the Eligible
Shareholders concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, the Board will not convene
an extraordinary general meeting and will not put any
resolution(s) proposed by the Eligible Shareholders to
vote at any such extraordinary general meeting or any
other general meeting of the Company.
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° If within 21 days of the date of deposit of the
Requisition, the Board has not advised the Eligible
Shareholders that the Requisition is not in order and
not in compliance with the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company, and the Board has
failed to proceed to convene an extraordinary general
meeting, the Eligible Shareholders themselves (or any
one or more of the Eligible Shareholders who holds
more than one-half of the total voting rights of all the
Eligible Shareholders who signed the Requisition)
may proceed to convene the extraordinary general
meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which general meetings may be convened by
the Board in accordance with the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company, provided that
the extraordinary general meeting so convened must
be held before the expiration of three months from
the date of deposit of the Requisition. All reasonable
expenses incurred by the Eligible Shareholders
concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholders concerned
by the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of maintaining a clear,
timely and effective communication with the shareholders
of the Company and investors. The Board also recognizes
that effective communication with its investors is critical
in establishing investor confidence and to attract new
investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining
a high degree of transparency to ensure the investors and
the shareholders of the Company will receive accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information of the Group
through the publication of annual reports, interim reports,
announcements and circulars. The Company also publishes
all corporate communications on the Company’s website
at www.changfengaxle.com.hk. Further, shareholders of
the Company may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The Board maintains regular
dialogues with institutional investors and analysts from time
to time to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy,
operations, management and plans. The Directors and
members of various board committees will attend the annual
general meeting of the Company and answer any questions
raised. The resolution of every important proposal will be
proposed at general meetings separately.
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The chairman of general meetings of the Company would
explain the procedures for conducting a poll before
proposing a resolution for voting. The poll results will
be announced at general meetings and published on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company,
respectively. In addition, the Company regularly meets
with institutional investors, financial analysts and financial
media, and promptly releases information related to any
significant progress of the Company, so as to promote the
development of the Company through mutual and efficient
communications.

During the year under review, there was no change to the
constitutional documents of the Company.

Shareholders investors and the media can make enquiries to
the Company through the following means:

Telephone number:  (852) 2638 1663

By post: Room 708, 7/F, Delta House,

3 On Yiu Street, Shatin, Hong Kong
Attention: Mr. Chan Wai Shing
By email: ir@changfengaxle.com
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF CHANGFENG AXLE
(CHINA) COMPANY LIMITED

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Changfeng Axle (China) Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 47 to 119, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2012, and the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audit
and to report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the HKICPA. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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Independent Auditor’s Report By % EEhHR &

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at
31 December 2012, and of its loss and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2013
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income #&2HE K%

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-_Z-—F+-A=t—-HLEE

2012 2011
—EB--fF —E——%F
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
FiaE ARBT T AREF T
Revenue A 8 503,841 920,681
Cost of sales SHENA (415,512) (668,588)
Gross profit el 88,329 252,093
Other income (expense) and other E A A (F)
gains and losses M E MU= & B E 9 (54,391) 7,680
Selling and distribution expenses SHE R MY (28,194) (26,044)
Research and development expenditure T EE R 9a (70,236) (18,857)
Administrative expenses TR (64,872) (63,851)
Impairment loss on trade receivables B S WG IRREBE 21 (154,892) (48,700)
Impairment losses recognised in respect N a7
of property, plant and equipment BRERRESE (136,000) = -
Finance costs BEMA 10 (39,379) (25,900 (E
1t
(Loss) profit before tax BRtAT (E51E ) E A 11 (459,635) 81,421 =
Taxation Bim 12 (1,103) (21,775)
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive FA (B8 =8 & J:%
(expense) income for the year 2 () Wes1a5s (460,738) 59,646 >
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive AR A FEAG (598 5 A é
(expense) income attributable to: NE2HE (X)W ias o
Owners of the Company Zi/NCTEZ 2 =N (459,351) 59,767 Qﬂi
Non-controlling interests FEFE A S (1,387) (121)
(460,738) 59,646
RMB RMB
AREE AR
Basic (loss) earnings per share BRER (E8) &7 14 (0.57) 0.07
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position &4 Bk R &

at 31 December 2012
R-ZB—Z-F+=HA=+—H

NOTES
FiaE

Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment e N 16
Prepaid lease payments FEfFEE FIE 17
Prepayment for acquisition of machinery B TR RIA
Prepayment for acquisition of land use right B8 & + i F

and buildings REFTRFFIA
Deferred tax assets RIETRIR A E 19
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 20
Trade receivables B 5 EEIA 21
Bills receivables FENE R 21
Other receivables H At EUGRIE 21
Prepaid lease payments TR ERIA 17
Income tax recoverable A E AT 1S A
Available-for-sales investments A ERE 18
Held for trading investments REEERE 18a
Pledged bank deposits SRR ITIF R 22
Bank balances and cash RITEBR RS 22
Current liabilities nEEE
Trade and bills payables B SN SRIE R EREE 23
Other payables E S 5RIE 23
Amount due to a director EN—REEHRE 30(a)
Borrowings-due within one year B — RN —FREIH 24
Income tax payable FEFR1SER
NET CURRENT ASSETS mEBEEFE
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBES

LIABILITIES
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Borrowings-due after one year B — R —F1&EH 24
CAPITAL AND RESERVE R R
Share capital LN 25
Reserves fEtE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company N2 & #EA A FE(G RS
Non-controlling interests IR

The consolidated financial statements on pages 47 to 119
were approved and authorised for issue by the board of

directors on 27 March 2013 and are signed on its behalf Z.:

by:

DIRECTOR
EF

2012 2011
=F—=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMTR = AKBTE
578,176 612,475
297,730 294,736
18,899 42,708

- 49,750

37 1,003
894,842 1,000,672
278,733 323,742
255,397 483,412
108,818 218,247
136,534 136,721
6,236 6,203
2,439 44

- 1,000

20,000 =

- 2,100

61,872 134,450
870,029 1,304,919
100,193 187,865
65,372 53,933

- 1,500
498,560 447,968
531 3,785
664,656 695,051
205,373 609,868
1,100,215 1,610,540
- 47,960
1,100,215 1,562,580
53,560 53,560
1,008,089 1,469,067
1,061,649 1,622,627
38,566 39,953
1,100,215 1,562,580

DIRECTOR

EF

HREATEE9OENGEUBRER_ZE—=F=F1
“ttHEEESHAEREETIE YA TIHIEERERSE



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity fR&#Em S B &

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-—_HF+-A=1—-ALEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KARERAER
Shares
held under
awarded
Share Non-
Share Share  Capital  Surplus  Special compensation  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserves  reserves  reseves  scheme  eamings Total interests Total
RERER
E TG |
Re  REEE RARE  EHRE  BREE RANRR  REEY A ohEs At
RMB'0O0  RMBOOO  RMBOO0  RMBO0O  RMBO00  RMBO0O  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'0O0  RMBIO00
ARETT ARETL ARETT ARMTn ARETR ARETR ARETn ARETR ARETn ARETR
(notea) (noteb)
(xa) (WD) 49
At1 January 2011 N-E-—F-R-H 53060 599206 226,982 120,048 82 - 46212 1462860 - 1462860
Proft and ot comprehensive ncorte FRENREEYEEE :
for e ear - - - - - - W s () e i
Appropriaions Bt - < - B : - Bm 5 . 5
Capta contboution flom non-confoling ~FEARHERER 5
interests of a subsidiary R - - - - - - - - o Lo ?
At 31 December 2011 and KBzt J
1 January 2012 RE-5-F-H 53060 999296 226982 149,020 82 - 4T 15267 39%3 1562580 n
Loss and fotal comprehensive EMEERZERR LR N
expense for the year - - - - - - (459361)  (459.351) (1,387 (460,738) ‘g@
Purchase of sharesforthe puposg of SERBRO AN
awarded shares compensation BERA (i)
scheme (note 26) - - - - - (1,627) - (1,627) - (1,627)
At 31 December 2012 RE-ZF1ZA=1-H 53560 599206 226982 149,020 822 (1,627) 33596 1,061,649 38566 1,100,215
Notes: Hiat -
a. The balance represents deemed distribution, transfer and a. AEBRER_EENFER_TETNFALTENmMETERE
deemed contribution arising from group reorganisation for ARELERRIEDR - ERRAEHRR -
listing purposes which took place in 2008 and 2009.
b.  The balance comprising statutory surplus reserve and b. ZERBE A DR EERSRFEBERBEARGHE - HZE

FEETHNERIREREARKME (THE]) BEEE
TEETENREARNEESREZFHE A RNAMEIZR
E ° AE BB BN BIERASEFERRERSARA R R EM
BARMBINER - WISAKREEBIERTARA R BB
REREFHEERER

discretionary surplus reserve, which are non-distributable
and the transfer to these reserves is determined
according to the relevant laws in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) and by the board of directors of the PRC
subsidiaries in accordance with the Article of Associate
of the subsidiaries. Statutory surplus reserve can be
used to make up for previous year’s losses or convert
into additional capital of the PRC subsidiaries of the
Company. Discretionary surplus reserve can be used to
expand the existing operations of the Company’s PRC
subsidiaries.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows %838 &

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-—Z-——F+=-A=+—HLEE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss) profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Impairment loss on trade receivables
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Finance costs
Release of prepaid lease payments
Impairment loss recognised in respect of
property, plant and equipment
Loss from disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Interest income

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital
Decrease (increase) in inventories
Decrease (increase) in trade receivables
Decrease (increase) in bills receivables
Increase in other receivables
Decrease in trade and bill payables
Decrease in other payables
Purchase of shares for purpose of awarded
shares compensation scheme

Cash generated from (used in) operations
Income tax paid

NET CASH FROM (USED IN)
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipment
Prepayment for acquisition of machinery
Purchases of held for trading investments
Payment of prepaid lease payments
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Release of pledged bank deposits
Disposal of available-for-sale investment
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant
and equipment
Interest received
Refund of (prepayment for) deposit for acquisition
of land use right and buildings

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

AT (&) & A
FUA T RIRIEH AR
B 5 RYGRRERE
M - BB RRETE
BEBENEEREA
ME - BEARREZ
EHERRERIR
HEME - K&
K& iEER
A SIA

LEECEIRIL
KRERGME

FERD (B)

B 5 RUGRIER A (38 00)

FEM R IZR A (38 00)

Hfth fE Y FRIAE N

B 5 R R RN R

LA 5 RIRR

L EZEIAR 1 M =t BIRE B A D

REEE (R 2B S
EARIZIEEY

REEHARE (FTA)
REFHE

REEH
BERSRTANUR
BERHEEERE
X BEMNEERR
TFREEIFRITIER
FRER B IIRIRITIE K
HERTHHERE
HEWE - BE K&
RIEBFISHR
BEHAE
BEIMERENIETZ
(FEA5R) B R

REZBRMARSFH

2=
AL

BX

2012 2011
—E-—F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARETIT
(459,635) 81,421
154,892 48,700
36,604 31,821
39,379 25,900
6,236 6,144
136,000 =
12,794 2,488
(749) (1,744)
(74,479) 194,730
45,009 (33,455)
73,123 (141,646)
63,191 (218,177)
(813) (51,335)
(41,434) (1,612)
(548) (1,453)
(1,627) =
62,422 (252,948)
(5,786) (48,669)
56,636 (301,617)
(63,219) (141,301)
(52,191) (5,761)
(20,000) =
(9,263) (30,616)
(2,517) (30,859)
4,617 30,936
1,000 =

107 1,991

749 1,744
49,750 (49,750)
(90,967) (223,616)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows ZEBRERER

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-—_HF+-A=1—-ALEFE

2012 2011
—E-—F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETIT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Repayments of borrowings EEER (5283,920) (388,499)
Interest paid BEAFE (39,379) (25,900)
Repayment to a director BEEEE (1,500) =
New borrowings raised FTILIER 526,552 555,977
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM MEES (FrA) EE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES ZEEREE (38,247) 141,578
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HeRESEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS WA FER (72,578) (383,655)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FYRERREEEER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 134,450 518,105
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FERBERASEEER -
THE END OF YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash BIER1THE R IR & 61,872 134,450
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3RRHzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-—Z-——F+=-A=+—HLEE
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GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands. Its immediate and
also its ultimate holding company is Changfeng
Axle Holdings Ltd. (incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands), which 50.6% equity interests are owned
by Wong Kwai Mo and Wu Ching in aggregate.
The Company’s shares were listed on the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited with effect from 24,
September 2010. The address of the Company’s
registered office is at Room 708, 7/F, Delta House, 3
On Yiu Street, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment
holding. The principal activities of the Group
are manufacture and sale of axle and related
components in the People’s Republic of China
(“PRC”). Particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in note 31.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (“RMB”), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In preparing the consolidated financial statements
of the Company, the directors recognise that
although the Group had a net current asset position
of RMB205,373,000 as at 31 December 2012, the
Group recorded a net loss of RMB460,738,000 for
the year then ended. In addition, the Group had bank
borrowings due within one year of approximately
RMB498,560,000 as at 31 December 2012.
The directors are of the opinion that the existing
banking facilities could be successfully renewed
upon maturity based on the past history and good
relationships of the Group with the banks.

—REH

ARARASHESTMALAEREERAR - &
B R & &R A 7] A Changfeng Axle Holdings Ltd.
(REBELBESEMA)  TEERMAFS L
BHZAR50.6 %M - AARHBRNEE T —ZF
NAZ+HBERRREBHAERZMERAR LM -
RATRMFMPERABEBHAL HELREIREE
ARE7THT08E °

ARBNEIEXEBR/REER - AEREN T EXK
R E ARLME (1B ) 8k K 35 & E g M AR
BT BT - NDFHIMB A B FBENMEEST

FERBREAARE TARE IR - ARBTR
RAREIHEES -

RBRE M BHRRNELE

RREARRRFEAMBERERE - EFHR - GEAN
SER_FT——_F+_R=+—HBEARBDEEF
BEAR® 205,373,000 7T - AEERBEZ A MLEF
EHFEEFRR AR 460,738,0007T © M - A&
ER - T——F+_A=t—RAEE—FRIH
RITERK AR 498,560,000 7T - EFRA - BN
AEBBECHRERTIRIFBE  RARTRE
AT B AN B -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group had renewed facilities on their expiry to the
extent of approximately RMB159,000,000 in full.
Taking into account the availability of the Group’s
banking facilities, together with expected net cash
inflows generated from the Group’s business
operations, the directors believe that the Group
will have sufficient working capital for its present
requirements. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(‘HKICPA?”).

Amendments to HKAS 12
EBGTERIE 1258 (BRI A)

Amendments to HKFRS 7
ERVBREERE 75 (EEFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures-Transfers
of Financial Assets

The Group has applied for the first time the
amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures-Transfers
of Financial Assets in the current year. The
amendments increase the disclosure requirements
for transactions involving the transfer of financial
assets in order to provide greater transparency
around risk exposures when financial assets are
transferred.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-—_HF+-A=1—-ALEFE

BRSSP BRRNEE ()

RBEHRE  ARERBBEH2BEOARE
159,000,000 TAE B E - &rT RAKE ZRITRE
AREE  BRAKERNEBEEPEL AR
SREFF  EFHGE A5EKEERNEESR
SAMRAREBRRHMAE - Bt - KEPBHRKRIZ
RS ERR -

FE RIS ET RARMER] B R M BHRE LR ([ FBMK
HEER])

RAFE  AEBERATIEESFMAE(E
BEEMAR]) ARMZEEM B RE LR (EF]
) e

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets; and

AERERIR - WEHERREE « &

Financial Instruments: Disclosures-Transfers of
Financial Assets

TRTA: BE-EBERIREE

ERMBREEAE7H (BAIP) RE-EREME
E
AEERAFRBERERAT BB RELRNETHR
(BRIAR) KE —BRTHEE - ZFE] ALY
LEBZTREEIRZIBPERT  SENERTA
BERRESRERAEERE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3RRHzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE_Z-—_H+-A=1+—-RALFE
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures-Transfers
of Financial Assets (continued)

The Group has arrangements with various banks
to transfer to the banks its contractual rights to
receive cash flows from certain trade receivables.
The arrangements are made through discounting
those receivables to banks on a full recourse basis.
Specifically, if the trade receivables are not paid at
maturity, the banks have the right to request the
Group to pay the unsettled balance. As the Group
has not transferred the significant risks and rewards
relating to these trade receivables, it continues to
recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables
and has recognised the cash received on the
transfer as a secured borrowing (see note 24). The
relevant disclosures have been made regarding the
transfer of these trade receivables on application
of the amendments to HKFRS 7 (see note 21a). In
accordance with the transitional provisions set out
in the amendments to HKFRS 7, the Group has not
provided comparative information for the disclosures
required by the amendments.

The application of the other amendments to HKFRSs
in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group’s financial performance and positions for the
current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in these consolidated financial statements.

New and revised HKFRS issued but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new
and revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRSs
HEBY M ELER (BT
Amendments to HKFRS 7

FRMBREENE 75 (ERIA)

N

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

ERPHREERE O (BRI A) KEE
FATs RS AR 7 5% (IERTA)

N

3.

FE RIS ET RARMER] B R M B|RE LR ([ FBMK
HEER ) ()

ERMBREEAE7H (BAIP) RE-ERHEME
E (%)

AEBEZRRTEL T8 WHREKREET
BREFAENRSRANEORNEZTZFR
17 ZERHTEBREMEREERRITRIRNZ
FRYGRIAMIEL - LEE - fiBUFRIEL RN F
I 2 - AIRITR AR B RAKE N RENE
fe ANAKEYBEREZETE 5 RN IAEH
MEARREER  HeBEXEHEREETIEN
REE YEEREERMERNRESER/FE
MER(RE24) - ARARERERZFEHEW
FREAMERT BN HREENF 75 (BTN 1EL B
EKE (A 21a) - REFEVHREERET7 R
(ERTA) PR BIR RS AR E L EBLERT AT AR
ER BRI B LLERER -

RAFERMATEMBREER (BRI A) LEL A
ERRAFERBEFENTBRRLMARAK, %L
ZEGAVBBRRAEEBEENEREATE -

C A RAERB T RSB EBUBREE
A

REEIWEITF A LAT 2 BME R ERAFTR]
RIER] B BMBRELER -

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2009-2011 Cycle!
ERVBREEN _ZETNFE_T——FEH
LR

Disclosures-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities'

BRE-RiHeREERSRAR"

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9 and Transition
Disclosures®

BAVBREERFE IR 2aHIERAE K
EE MRS



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRS issued but not yet
effective (continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10,

HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12

BB REERE 105 (BFTA) ~ B
ISR E 2RI 11 5% (IBRTAR) B
BATSSRE2ERISE 1255 (IE5TA)

Amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and HKAS 27
BB WEERZE 1098 BFTA) - BAMB RS
R 1258 (BETAR) KBS ST ERIE 27 5%

(EFTA)

HKFRS 9
BAMGREEAE IR

HKFRS 10
BAEMBREEAE 105

HKFRS 11
BAEMBREEANE 115

HKFRS 12
BAEMBGREEANE 125

HKFRS 13
BAEMBGREEAE 135

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)
BB ERFE 195 (ZFE——FLEF])

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)
BB ERIE 27 57 (ZFE——FL41EFT)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)
BB ERIE 285% (ZFE——FL1EFT)

Amendments to HKAS 1
HBSEERIZE 15 (BE]AN)

Amendments to HKAS 32
BB G ERIZE 325 (BRI A)

HK(FRIC)-Int 20

T8 (BARMBRE2BRE]) 2B 205

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Consolidated Financial Statements, Joint
Arrangements and Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities: Transition Guidance'
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised HKFRS issued but not yet
effective (continued)
! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

3.

FE RIS ET RARMER] B R M B|RE LR ([ FBMK
HEER ) ()

EEMAE N RERHET REET BB BREE
B (4&)
! R=F—=F— A Z R FIERE AR -

January 2013.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 2 REF—[yF—F—HBL2 1% 15 F /T ERTLL -
January 2014.

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 3 REF—AF—A—HBZ % F15FREHRTL
January 2015.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 4 REF—ZF+A—HBLZ %15 FRERTL -
2012.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 9 issued in 2009 introduces new
requirements for the classification and measurement
of financial assets. HKFRS 9 amended in 2010
includes the requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial liabilities and for
derecognition.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 are described as
follows:

° All recognised financial assets that are
within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
are subsequently measured at amortised cost
or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose
objective is to collect the contractual cash
flows, and that have contractual cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the
end of subsequent accounting periods. All
other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end
of subsequent reporting periods. In addition,
under HKFRS 9, entities may make an
irrevocable election to present subsequent
changes in the fair value of an equity
investment (that is not held for trading) in other
comprehensive income, with only dividend
income generally recognised in profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

° With regard to the measurement of financial
liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, HKFRS 9 requires that the
amount of change in the fair value of the
financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the
liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value
of financial liabilities attributable to changes
in the financial liabilities’ credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss.
Under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the
change in the fair value of the financial liability
designated as fair value through profit or loss
was presented in profit or loss.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2015, with earlier application
permitted.

The directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS
9 in the future do not have significant impact on
amounts reported in respect of the Group’s financial
assets and financial liabilities.

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
In June 2011, a package of five standards on
consolidation, joint arrangements, associates and
disclosures was issued, including HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011) and
HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).

Key requirements of these five standards are
described below.

TR R M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(continued)

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
that deal with consolidated financial statements.
HK(SIC)-Int 12 Consolidation-Special Purpose
Entities will be withdrawn upon the effective date
of HKFRS 10. Under HKFRS 10, there is only one
basis for consolidation, that is, control. In addition,
HKFRS 10 includes a new definition of control that
contains three elements: (a) power over an investee,
(b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability to
use its power over the investee to affect the amount
of the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has
been added in HKFRS 10 to deal with complex
scenarios.

HKFRS 12 is a disclosure standard and is applicable
to entities that have interests in subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and/or unconsolidated
structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than
those in the current standards.

In July 2012, the amendments to HKFRS 10, HKFRS
11 and HKFRS 12 were issued to clarify certain
transitional guidance on the application of these five
HKFRSs for the first time.

These five standards, together with the amendments
relating to the transitional guidance, are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
with earlier application permitted provided that all of
these standards are applied at the same time.

The directors anticipate that these five standards
will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the annual period beginning 1 January
2013. However, the directors anticipate that the
application of these five standards do not have
significant effect on the Group.

3.

FE RIS ET RARMER] B R M B|RE LR ([ FBMK
HEER ) ()

FHHZEIRE - BERH  BEQATARKESEZ
el RAEFT R ()

ERAUBREENF10RMAB B S ERNE 275
HERBYMBHRREEGEMBHRR 2D - F
B (REBEBEZES) REE12REAKRE —BK
BHER  BRBBMBREENE10RZLERE
HIRE - REBEFEMHERELRNE 1058 - AR
B—HEE - RLEEFIE - o BERBHHREE
AIE10SERBIEH R HER - EFEE=HIE
(B ABRIES : (0)2RWRAER 2R
PRISAI 2O RBRSERN R () MR EERE
REENZEREEQRSBIES - BEYBR
SEANF 105D FIEZRIE S| AR IEEFBIL

FEMHERMELRNE 2R B —WEER - BRARKH
BAF - MARH  BERR R AREE ABRSE
BEREARGCER - BBMs - FRMBHRS
EAF12R/BBEREBRTERERER °

R-T——FLA BROEEFEUEREENFE105%
(BRIA) « BAMBHREENE 1R (ETX) KFE
BB HREERFE 125 (BFIA) - BIEERERZ
hREBWHRE L2 ETBRMERES -

ZhBEENERBERBERS 2B AE_F—=
F—A—HXZERARZFREREEYR  AJREE
R EEERRERARKER

BEEREM AEESR-_ZE—=F-A—HR#HKZ
FEMAZGAMBHRREAZORED - A -
ESHEYERAZIREATNGHAREELEAY
=,



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSS”) (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income

The amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Items
of Other Comprehensive Income introduce new
terminology for the statement of comprehensive
income. Under the amendments to HKAS 1, a
‘statement of comprehensive income’ is renamed
as a ‘statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income’. The amendments to HKAS
1 retain the option to present profit or loss and other
comprehensive income in either a single statement
or in two separate but consecutive statements.
However, the amendments to HKAS 1 require items
of other comprehensive income to be grouped into
two categories: (a) items that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss; and (b) items that
may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
when specific conditions are met. Income tax on
items of other comprehensive income is required to
be allocated on the same basis-the amendments
do not change the option to present items of other
comprehensive income either before tax or net of tax.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The
presentation of items of other comprehensive income
will be modified accordingly when the amendments
are applied in future accounting periods.

The directors anticipate that the new or revised
HKFRSs, other than those set out above, will have
no material impact on the results and the financial
position of the Group.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

3.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3RRHzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012

BE

—E-CHE+ZA=+-HULEEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for
certain financial instruments, that are measured at
fair values, as explained in accounting policies set
out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
goods.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control
is achieved where the Company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of an
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
from the effective date of acquisition and up to the
effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity then.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to
non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of
a subsidiary is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable and represents
amounts receivable for goods sold in the normal
course of business, net of discounts and sales
related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed, at
which time all the following conditions are satisfied:

° the Group has transferred to the buyer the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of
the goods;

° the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership nor effective control over the
goods sold;

° the amount of revenue can be measured
reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits
associated with the transaction will flow to the
Group; and

o the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect
of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised
when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the amount of income can be
measured reliably. Interest income is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings
held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services, or for administrative purposes (other
than construction in progress) are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of items of property, plant and equipment (other than
construction in progress) less their residual values
over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of the reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

Properties in the course of construction for
production, supply or administrative purposes are
carried at cost, less any recognised impairment loss.
Costs include professional fees and, for qualifying
assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties
are classified to the appropriate categories of
property, plant and equipment when completed
and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,
except where another systematic basis is more
representative of the time pattern in which economic
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

In the event that lease incentives are received to
enter into operating leases, such incentives are
recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of
incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense on a straight-line basis, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the
leased asset are consumed.

Leasehold land and building

When a lease includes both land and building
elements, the Group assesses the classification of
each element as a finance or an operating lease
separately based on the assessment as to whether
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred
to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements
are operating leases in which case the entire lease
is classified as an operating lease. Specifically,
the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the
land and the building elements in proportion to the
relative fair values of the leasehold interests in the
land element and building element of the lease at the
inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land that
is accounted for as an operating lease is presented
as “prepaid lease payments” in the consolidated
statement of financial position and is amortised over
the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and building elements, the entire lease is
generally classified as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESBCER (E)
(CONTINUED)
Foreign currencies S

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective
functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of
the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or
loss on a systematic basis over the periods in
which the Group recognises as expenses the
related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-
current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position
and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic
and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants (continued)

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments made to state-managed retirement
benefit scheme are recognised as an expense when
employees have rendered service entiting them to
the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation as reported in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that
it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3RRHzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which
to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences
and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of the reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax
are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax
or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as
an expense in the period in which it is incurred.

Impairment of non-current assets other than
financial assets

At the end of reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its non-current assets other
than financial assets to determine whether there
is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of
an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not
been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories
less all estimated costs of completion.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B #3RRHzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of a past event, and
it is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation. Provision are
measured at the best estimate of the consideration
required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a
provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount
is the present value of those cash flows (where the
effect of the time value of money is material).

Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and liabilities (other than financial assets or
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss)
are added to or deducted from the fair value of
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition.

Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into held
for trading investments, loans and receivables, and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument
and of allocating interest income over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest
basis for debt instruments.

Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL has two subcategories,
including financial assets held for trading and those
designated as at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

o it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value, with changes in fair value arising from
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss
in the period in which they arise. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial assets and is included
in the ‘other gains and losses’ line item in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-—_HF+-A=1—-ALEFE

FEEEBER ()

ERTA(#E)
TRMEE (&)

BB FZ
BERANEFADAE S RE ENCHHR AN KD #
MR F S ANTTE - BRI XRTHZER T
AW F s (WEm ) B8 B R E TR 2 1)
FHERNREFENBARRRSRA (BREBKE
BRAXAAHREBONENXE RO —DNER - X
SRR R B (E s ) BRI -

B TR SRATHE BRI R EERER -

B FEIERER DB & HEE
BRAFEINREEBRSEREZSRMEED RME -
B EEESRMEE MR B RERFEERIEAF
B ABRZEREE -

WELRTIER - AIEREENEARERER

BAZEZENRRTIARKEE + 3K

«  HACHSISMIAMAZ 5 MHM@A
e A g A P TR LIS R AL B
CERE

s HEATHELEREREMTAZITETA-

BRI EEGREZ SBEERAFER
B MEFAEMELZAVFEEBDANREEZH
RAEZRBDER - RNESERZ Wk ERF
HERTRMEEMIZ ERAREHIE - Wit AL
BEEWER [Hilhas RER] A -

il
i
1
)
+H
a
=
I
al
-
)
9
)
A
B




N
o

o
oy
(o))
)

«Q
Q
[0}
3

«
>
=
[}
o
=
3
o3
o
[}

el
o5}
=}

<
[
=
(03
o
-
>
=}
2
o
o3
Bl
D

o
o
3
s
N
o
N

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3R R HizE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent to
initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade receivables, bills receivable, other receivables,
pledged bank deposits, and bank balances and
cash) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives
that are either designated or not classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and
receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Changes
in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated investments revaluation
reserve, until the financial asset is disposed of or
is determined to be impaired, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss (see the accounting policy in respect of
impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
Financial assets are considered to be impaired where
there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows
of the financial assets have been affected.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
that investment below its cost is considered to be
objective evidence of impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)
Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
For other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

° significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

o breach of contract, such as default or
delinquency in interest and principal payments;
or

° it becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial assets, such as
trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence
of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could
include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed
payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the
amount of the impairment loss recognised is the
difference between the assets’ carrying amount and
the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets
with the exception of trade receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount
of the allowance account are recognised in profit
or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES EESBER (K)
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) BT E(E)
Financial assets (continued) SRIEE (&)
Impairment of financial assets (continued) THEERE (E)

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to
the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed
what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is
considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or
losses previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period
in which the impairment takes place.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity
investments will not be reversed through profit
or loss. Any increase in fair value subsequent to
impairment loss is recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in
investment revaluation reserve. For available-for-
sale debt investments, impairment losses are
subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the
recognition of the impairment loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by
the Group are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B R KM=

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability
and of allocating interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective
interest basis.

The Group’s financial liabilities, which include trade
and other payables, amount due to a director and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the
Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to
control the transferred asset, the Group continues
to recognise the asset to the extent of its continuing
involvement and recognises an associated liability.
If the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity is recognised in profit or loss.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES FESBEE (#)
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments (continued) BT E(E)
Derecoghnition (continued) R (&)

The Group derecognises a financial liability when,
and only when, the Group’s obligations are
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment
transactions

Share award scheme

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of shares awarded at the
grant date is expensed on a straight line basis over
the vesting period, with a corresponding increase in
awarded shares compensation reserve.

When trustee purchases the Company’s shares
from the open market, the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental
costs, is presented as shares held under awarded
shares compensation scheme and deducted from
total equity. No gain or loss is recognized on the
transactions of the Company’s own shares.

When the trustee transfers the Company’s shares
to grantees upon vesting, the related costs of the
granted shares vested are reversed from shares held
for share purchase scheme. Accordingly, the related
expense of the granted shares vested is reversed
from awarded shares compensation reserve. The
difference arising from such transfer is debited/
credited to accumulated profits.

When the share awards are forfeited, the
amount previously recognised in awarded shares
compensation reserve will be transferred to
accumulated profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 4, the directors of the
Company is required to make judgments, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning
the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period,
that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(@) Estimated impairment of property, plant

and equipment

Whenever certain events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of property, plant and equipment may
not be recoverable. The directors conducted
an impairment review by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell) to the carrying
amount. When the recoverable amount
is determined based on the value in use
calculation, the value-in-use calculation is
determined based on the expected future cash
flows arising from the usage of these assets
discounted by a suitable discount rate. Where
the future cash flow are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. During
the current year, the Group recognised an
impairment loss amounting to approximately
RMB136,000,000 in respect of properties,
plant and equipment as disclosed in note 16.

TR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables
When there is objective evidence of impairment
loss, the Group takes into consideration the
estimation of future cash flows. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash
flows (excluding future credit losses that have
not been incurred) discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial
recognition), together with the consideration
of subsequent settlement and the aging of
the trade receivables. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, a material
impairment loss may arise. As at 31 December
2012, the carrying amount of trade receivables
is approximately RMB255,397,000 (net of
impairment loss of RMB197,643,000) (2011:
RMB483,412,000 net of impairment loss of
RMB48,700,000).

Impairment of inventories

The Group records inventories at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price for
inventories, less all the estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the
sales.

Operational procedures have been in place to
monitor the risk as a significant proportion of
the Group’s of working capital is devoted to
inventories. Procedure-wise, the management
reviews the inventory aging listing on a
regular basis for those aged inventories. This
involves comparison of carrying value of the
aged inventory items with the respective net
realisable value. The purpose is to ascertain
whether allowance is required to be made
in the financial statements for any obsolete
and slow-moving items. Although the Group
carried periodic review on the net realisable
value of inventory, the actual realisable value
of inventory is not known until the sales take
place.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(continued)

(d) Provision for warranty claims

Provision for warranty is made based on the
possible claims on the products by customers
with reference to the warranty coverage period
and the percentage of warranty expenses
incurred over total sales amounts during
the financial year. In case where the actual
claims are greater than expected, a material
increase in warranty expenses may arise,
which would be recognised in profit or loss for
the period in which such a claim takes place.
Warranty provision has been included in trade
and other payables with carrying amount of
approximately RMB1,065,351 at 31 December
2012 (2011: RMB1,088,000) (note 23).

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximizing the return to shareholders
through optimization of the debt and equity balance.
The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts which include bank and other borrowings
disclosed in note 24, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves
and retained earnings.

The directors of the Group review the capital
structure periodically. As part of this review, the
directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing
debt.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 7. S£@IA
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a =S=@IEER
Carrying amount
BREE
Financial 2012 2011
instrument —ET—_fF 5
classification RMB’000 RMB’000
SMIAEDHE AR®T T ARETTT
Financial assets
SRIEE
Trade and other receivables Loans and receivables
B 5 R E M RIA SRR FIE 268,710 489,733
78 Bills receivables Loans and receivables
. e E & SRR IE 108,818 218,247
= Pledged bank deposits Loans and receivables
= BRI TIFHR B R BRI - 2,100
3 Bank balances and cash Loans and receivables
z BITHBRES B R EAGROR 61,872 134,450
) Available-for-sale investments Avallable-for-sale
§ financial assets
S A ERE AHHESREE - 1,000
E Held for trading investments Held for trading
El investments
5 FIEEERE RFIEEERE 20,000 -
o 459,400 845,530
>
: Financial liabilities
> SRIBE
§ Trade and other payables* At amortised cost
5 B3 R E e 3R 5 T DEN 121,982 216,026
~ Amount due to a director At amortised cost
e —REEHIE R HR A - 1,500
Borrowings At amortised cost
& R HR AR 498,560 495,928
620,542 718,454
* Excluded advances from customers, warranty S TEEKEECBIBG - B IRIE - EMENFIERE

accrual, other tax payables and accruals. FfalIE o
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

()

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include trade and other receivables, pledged
bank deposits, cash and bank balances,
available-for-sale investments, held for trading
investments, trade and other payables, amount
due to a director and borrowings. Details of
the financial instruments are disclosed in the
respective notes. The risks associated with
these financial instruments included market
risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are
set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

Certain bank balances of the Group are
denominated in foreign currencies. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets at the
end of the reporting period are as follows:

EZ(E D)
BBl

United States dollars (“‘US$”)
Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$”)

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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7. E@TIAGE

(b)

(c)
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Assets
BE

2012 2011
—E-—F —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETTT
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

()

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 2% (2011: 2%) appreciation and
depreciation in RMB, the functional currency
of the respective group entities, against the
relevant foreign currencies for the year ended
31 December 2012 and 2011. The sensitivity
rate represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign
exchange rates with reference to historical
fluctuation of foreign exchange rates during
the year. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation
at 31 December 2012 and 2011 for a
corresponding change in foreign currencies
rates. A negative number below indicates an
increase in post-tax loss for the year (2011:
a decrease in post-tax profit) where RMB
strengthens against the relevant currencies.
For a weakening of RMB against the relevant
currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on the post-tax loss for the
year (2011: post-tax profit).

Us$ ETT
HK$ BT

The bank balances denominated in foreign
currencies fluctuated throughout the year
and in management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

7.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(d)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or
future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest
rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk on the variable rate of interest
earned on the bank balances.

The Group’s borrowings have fixed interest
rates and therefore, are subjected to fair value
interest rate risk.

Sensitivity analysis

The following analysis is prepared assuming the
bank balances outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year and all other variables were held constant.
A 25 basis point (2011: 25 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates.

For those bank balances with an interest rate of
0.001% per annum, the analysis below reflects
the sensitivity that the interest rate may drop
to 0%. The pre-tax loss for the year would
decrease/(increase) (2011: pre-tax profit for the
year would increase/(decrease)) as follows:

F7+2o5 fEEE
TRk25 (EEE

25 basis points higher
25 basis points lower

The Group monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

TR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

()

U]

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to other price risk
through its held for trading investments (as
disclosed in note 18a). If the price of the held
for trading investments had been 5% higher/
lower, the Group’s loss would decrease/
increase by approximately RMB1,000,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2012 as a result
of the changes in fair value of held for trading
investments.

For the year ended 31 December 2011, if the
price of the available-for-sale investments (note
18) had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s
investments valuation reserve would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB50,000 as a
result of the changes in fair value of investment
fund.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a
customer or third party to a financial asset fails
to meet its contractual obligations.

The Group has concentration of credit risk
at 18.6% (2011: 10.5%) and 41.5% (2011:
22.7%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively. The Group also
has concentration of credit risk by geographical
location as trade and bills receivable comprise
various debtors which are located in the PRC.

The Group manages this risk by reviewing the
recoverable amount of each individual trade
debt at the end of reporting period to ensure
that adequate impairment losses are made for
irrecoverable amounts.
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

U]

Credit risk (continued)

The Group set up a committee (“Committee”)
to focus on the settlement of the trade
receivables in September 2011 due to the
downturn of economy. The Committee
regularly reviewed, on the recoverability of trade
receivables (including regularly communicate
with individual debtor, held internal meeting to
discuss and analysis the status on individual
debtor, and seek for lawyer review on the
status of debtor with financial or operational
problems). Based on the nature of customers,
the Committee classified the customers to
different portfolios for analysis. The works
of Committee included understanding of
background, financial strength, sales and
repayment of each portfolio.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group
had trade receivables amounted to
RMB453,040,000 (2011: RMB532,112,000)
before impairment loss of RMB197,643,000
(2011: RMB48,700,000). It was noted by the
Committee that some of the debtors were
of financial problems and the recoverability
of these receivables were low, and a report
was prepared by the Committee suggesting
a provision of RMB197,643,000 based on
an analysis of the recoverability by customer
portfolio. The analysis was based on the
present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at individual debtors original
effective interest rate, together with the
subsequent settlement and aging of individual
debtors.

The board of directors has reviewed the
report of the Committee and considered
the provision suggested is adequate but not
excessive and the remaining trade receivables
at 31 December 2012 of RMB255,397,000
(after impairment loss of RMB197,643,000) is
collectable.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

U]

(9)

Credit risk (continued)

The board of directors considered the credit
risk of the bill receivables and liquid funds is
limited because the majority of counterparties
are reputable state-owned banks located in the
PRC.

Other than the concentration of the credit
risk on trade receivables, bills receivable and
bank balances and pledged bank deposits,
the Group does not have any other significant
concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group closely monitors the utilisation of
bank and other borrowings, its cash position
resulting from its operations and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
The management monitor the utilization of
borrowing and ensure sufficient working capital
for its present requirements (defined in note 2).

The following table details the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its financial
liabilities as at 31 December 2012 and 2011.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

7.

SWMIAE)

U]

(9)

FERE (&)
HRABPZSHFARTEEARENEE
RIT Bt EFERREREBRRARDES
MEERBRAR -

BRE SRR  BREBARRITERRD

ERRTERNEFEERRI  AREHE
EMEpEREEETRAR

TRE B

REBRE RS E—i; REBETYERRITR
HibERNB AR RREEERELNS

B Iﬁﬁﬁﬁfi)ﬁwu%ig’@mfﬁé&fﬁf
ZEBEHKFUARRBESRENTE - B1F
BEREFNBABEATHREAREEES
R B RTE K (EZAMNE2) -

TRFMNRZZE—ZFR_E—F+=H
=+—H AEEEKARTNEBREENGT
AAEHER - TRIVIBIBEANEE A RER E
KEAFNEFAEAEENS B ERARILE
REREFR - WRAFEENERRNERS
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. SREIA(E)
(g) Liquidity risk (continued) (9) HEIMEREPSR ()
Liquidity and interest risk table FEMERFEERE
Weighted Total
average Within 3 months 1-2 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years  cash flows amount
il =) £z BRER
FiF= =Rk - GES BeRE REE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
aplt  ARETT AREFT ARETT  ARETT ARETR
2012 —E-CF
Trade and other payables 5 RAMENTIE - 86,946 35,036 - 121,982 121,982
Borrowings &3 6.78% 202,084 289,055 - 491,139 498,560 -
:
289,030 324,091 - 613,121 620,542 T{‘m
=
2011 8-
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENFE - 166,202 49,824 - 216,026 216,026
Amount due to a director ER—%E%5E - 1,500 - - 1,500 1,500 =
Borrowings &5 6.62% 168,203 291,458 51,053 510,714 495928 5
335,905 341,282 51,063 728,240 713,454 é
(h) Fair value h) AVE ﬁ

The fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (excluding derivative
instruments) is determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis or using prices
from observable current market transactions.

For held for trading investments and available-
for-sale investments, the fair value is
determined with reference to price quoted by
the bank.

The directors of the Company consider that
the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

TREENSRAB(TRENTETR)MAYF
BNREBEABRRBESREDN REENLATE
BRASFEAABENE NS HHERE

ﬁ_':_o

FIEEBERERAHKERENRFENZE
RITHREETE -

ARBEERR  WBHERAREA M BEREK
AENEREELSHABAMNKREEELQF
BRE -
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7.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. S$WMIE(HE)
(h) Fair value (continued) (hy 2AFEGE)

Fair value measurements recognised in
the consolidated statements of financial
position

The following table provides an analysis
of financial instruments that are measured
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value,
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the
degree to which the fair value is observable.

° Level 1 fair value measurements are
those derived from quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

o Level 2 fair value measurements are
those derived from inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1 that
are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices).

o Level 3 fair value measurements are
those derived from valuation techniques
that include inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs).

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value
measurements of available-for-sale

investments

At 1 January 2011 RZE——F—H—H

Purchases BE

At 31 December 2011 R-ZE——F+-_A=+—H
and 1 January 2012 rE—ZT——%—F—H

Settlements wE

At 31 December 2012 R—E——F+-_A=+—H

RGEMBRRREZN D FETE

TREHNISERBERRATHETENSRT
B0 DRBEAFEANBREED BAR5

—&=>-

s BA—2FEFEARHAREEXAGRE
REMIZANRE (RERAR) /i -

o MBI ZAFEFEHRR —FAERE N
SMABIREERABMEER (AE
%) i (BUR B ER) B

s BA="FEFEABELIFNTEHRRE
MmSRE(TABRRBE) SERNEE
KA EBEBN[BERMEH

AHHERERFI =D FEFEZHER

RMB’000
ARBTT

1,000

1,000
(1,000)
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7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 7. SREIA(E)
(h) Fair value (continued) (hy 2AFEGE)
Recognition of level 3 fair value BEEBERESFI=AFETEZER
measurement of held for trading
investments
RMB’000
AR¥BFIT
At 1 January 2012 R-—Z——F—F—H -
Purchases BB 20,000
At 31 December 2012 WZTE——_F+_A=+—H 20,000
8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WARZHEHR 87
(@) Products within each operating segment (a) VBEEIPAMNEM
The segment information reported was FRERZRIN D 2R E R TH UAE Mg ia K B E WA 3:@%
presented based on the types of products and ZEMEAAEELZT - WEHEAKREF TEL |
the types of customers to which the products BREANEETHEBUSRE R LT EE
are sold, which is consistent with the internal WE A ELE R o %
information that is regularly reviewed by the E
directors of the Company, who are the chief .
operating decision makers of the Group, N
for the purposes of resource allocation and N
assessment of performance. ‘gg
The Group has two reportable operating NEFERA A TREBRESED P :
segments as follows:
e  OEM and related market-manufacturing e OEMEEEME -—MERRERFEER
and selling of axle assemblies and axle HELEE R EMAKEEEREREE
components to heavy duty truck and B 48 nk N B g T Eh L o
middle duty truck manufacturers and
other assembly manufacturers.
° Aftermarket-manufacturing and selling of . wEmE —BLERRATIREE BB ZI

axle components and axle assemblies to 15 R A5 4 Ak AR L EE 18 IR TS -
market for providing after-sales services.
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8. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 8. WARDEER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Segment revenue and results (b) ZBRAREE
Segment revenue Segment results
2 HLA AHEE
2012 2011 2012 2011
8- E——F 8- E——F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETTT ARETR ARETT
OEM and related market OEM RiREE M 264,493 382,610 45,134 97,111
Aftermarket $Emis 239,348 538,071 43,195 154,982
88 External revenue/ Wik /DR
segment result 503,841 920,681 88,329 252,093
(@]
é Other income and other gains AR
K and losses Hitlhm REE (54,391) 7,680
z Selling and distribution expenses  $HE kA HES (28,194) (26,044)
% Research and development e
=S expenditure (70,236) (13,857)
= Administrative expenses TBAY (64,872) (63,851)
g Impairment loss on trade B RAGRAE
3 receivables (note) B (KizE) (154,892) (48,700)
= Impairment loss recognised ER TG
% in respect of property, ERRREER
C: plant and equipment (136,000) =
> Finance costs BENA (39,379) (25,900)
2 (Loss) proft before tax AT (B518) i (459,635) 81,421
3 Taxation A (1,103) (21,775)
% (Loss) profit and total ER(ER) 8k
comprehensive (expense) 2E (AR Kaled
income for the year (460,738) 59,646
Revenue reported above represents revenue LA EFTfR & MM AR RIEIMEBERFTEEB A - F
generated from external customers. There was M7 EEHE -

no inter-segment sales during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(b) Segment revenue and results (continued)
The accounting policies of the operating
segments are the same as the Group’s
accounting policies described in note 4.
Segment results represent the gross profit of
each operating segment. This is the measure
reported to the directors of the Company
for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment.

Note: The amount consisted of an impairment loss on
trade receivables for the OEM and related market
of RMB34,820,000 (2011: RMB12,098,000)
and trade receivables for aftermarket of
RMB120,072,000 (2011: RMB36,602,000).

(c) Segment assets

OEM and related market OEM K A8 5
Aftermarket &5

Total of all segments R \*B Bl
Unallocated F )

Consolidated assets HREBE

Segment assets represent trade receivables.

Segment liabilities are not presented as
liabilities are generally incurred for all operating
segments and not presented to the directors
for performance assessment and resource
allocation.

(d) Geographical information
The Group principally operates in the
PRC (country of domicile of the operating
subsidiaries). All non-current assets of the
Group are located in the PRC.

8.

TR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-Z-——F+t-A=1t—-HLFE

WAR D FPEFR ()

(b) “‘BH&U&&%%(ZQ)

ENEHNE n-I—BZ%EEiMT:E‘lFﬁtE’]Z’K%@A
quEkﬁ*EH c DERAIBEELEDHNEN -
&t%?ﬁﬁ%éﬁ&pﬂﬁﬁiﬁﬁ B mA QB E
FEHRHMETEIAR -

Hiat : ZATEEIER OEM R IG5 6 B 5 fE W B R (E 78

AR #34,820,0007T (=F ——14F : AR H# 12,098,000

TT) RIS 75 19 B ZEW A R 120,072,000 T
—F——4F : ARMK36,602,0007T) °

(c) oWEE
Assets
BE
2012 2011
—E——F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBT T
71,992 130,758
183,405 352,654
255,397 483,412
1,509,474 1,822,179
1,764,871 2,305,591

DESEERE SRR -

RRFTEEED I — ﬁﬁ@EEE%&T‘%ﬁ
%%Mi@ﬁ%ﬁ&éﬁ PELEIR WA E 25
DEBRLE °

(d) tEER
AEEEENFE (ZEHBARAEMER)
BB o NEBEFMEIERBEEHINAFE -
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9A.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(d) Geographical information (continued)
All of the Group’s revenue from external
customers is attributed to the group entities’
countries of domicile (i.e. the PRC).

(e) Information about major customers
None of individual customer of the Group
contributed over 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue during each of the years ended 31
December 2012 and 2011.

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE) AND OTHER
GAINS AND LOSSES

Government grant (note)

Bank interest income
Loss from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

HRITHLE A

Net foreign exchange loss b 5 B 1R H ER
Sale of scrap materials SR EM R
Others Hth

Note: The amounts primarily represented incentives granted
by local authorities to the group entities located in
the PRC for the eminent contribution of tax payment,
encouragement of its business development and refund
of various taxes paid, award of being successfully listed
on the Main Board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
These grants are accounted for as immediate financial
support and award with no future related costs expected
to be incurred nor related to any assets.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
EXPENDITURE

The balance includes an amount of approximate
RMB60,000,000 in relation to the trial production and
quality test on the production of train bolster, train
side frame and related train components for Russia
railway project. Sales is expected to be commenced
in 2013.

BT A (BEE)
Income from suppliers on defects claim & B i fE Eg PR = E HIUA

8.

9A.

WA R D EER ()

(d) HEER(E)
FREASERBINBEFHNRADFEBNEHE
EREAEMBER (BFE) -

(e) BEBEXEEFHNEHR
REBEZE——FFk_FT——F+t-HA=1+—
AIEFESF  ANEBERIRF B RE L BEE
BBANEEW AR 10% KA L o

Hitp A (B REMKEREE

HEME - BB RRENEE

2012 2011
—EB-——F —F——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
6,176 5,556
1,590 3,095

749 1,744
(12,794) (2,488)
(51) (339)
(55,167) =
5,106 112
(54,391) 7,680

Biet : ZE 2 BE T BHEH 5 # R 55 BIR (5 AR 5 B
BT BB AR - AR R RERREZHE
R - BEFIREBHSTER LT o ZERLH
RS ERTEIRT B 7%+ TRAIAR KA T EE ARG B R A2
B R -

W<

EHBE—2 AR 60,000,000 ST FIE - B
BHTHIZEE MY EEL RS ERIZRIARIARESIE
THHNHREREELCSAR G c BHENR -
—=FFREE -
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10. FINANCE COSTS 10. BB KA
2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBET T ARETTT
Interest on: LA ZIBRFIE
Bank borrowings wholly repayable R A FAEE
within five years EEMRITHER 38,365 24,805
Other borrowings wholly repayable R AEFAEE
within five years B A AR 1,014 1,095
39,379 25,900
11. (LOSS) PROFIT BEFORE TAX 1. BRBAT (B548) %A 91
(Loss) profit before tax has been arrived at after BrBiAT (E51R) & A2 0Bk - N
charging: Tﬁ
@
2012 2011
—B-CF —T——F -
RMB’000 RMB'000 2
ARETR ARETTT E
Employee benefits expenses RERFFS (REES) : é
(including directors): S
- salaries and other benefits — He REMER 62,599 65,109 Q@
— retirement benefit scheme contributions — — 3R IRAEFIEH B 7,478 8,406

Total staff costs (included RMB41,962,000  # 8 T (AR 41,962,000 7T
(2011: RMB45,351,000) in cost of sales, (ZF—F : AR¥45,351,0007T)

RMB3,906,000 (2011: RMB3,778,000) BREEHEKARN - AR¥3,906,0007T

in selling and distribution expenses, (Z2—%F : AR™3,778,0007T) B4%

RMB1,140,000 (2011: RMB1,798,000) EHERDER A - AR¥1,140,0007T

in research and development expenditure, ~ (ZF——4% : AR#1,798,0007T) 21

and RMB23,069,000 ERERS A - kAR 23,069,0007T

(2011: RMB22,588,000) in administrative (ZF—%F : AR¥22,588,0007T)

expenses) BRETBHEZA) 70,077 73,515
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1% - BE kRETE 36,604 31,821
Release of prepaid lease payments BEEAHENK 6,236 6,144
Auditors’ remuneration ZEEE 1,582 1,476
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses R AR ZFERAK

—included in cost of sales —BEEHEEREAR 413,128 645,367

—included in research and development —BEERERYA

expenditure 68,761 11,859




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-Z-——F+=-A=+—HLEE

(Co]
N

o
oy
(o))
)

«Q
Q
[0}
3

«
>
=
(o]
o
=3
3
o3
o
[}

el
o5}
=}

<
[
=
(03
o
-
>
=}
=}
o
o3
Bl
D

o
o
3
=
N
o
N

The income tax expense for the year represents the
PRC Enterprise Income Tax which is calculated at
the prevailing tax rate of 25% on the taxable income
of the group entities in the PRC for the years ended
31 December 2012 and 2011.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to any income tax.

Fujian Changfeng Axle Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
(“Fujian Changfeng”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, was established in the PRC.

In accordance with Foreign Enterprise Income Tax
(“FEIT”) Laws of the PRC, Fujian Changfeng was
approved to be exempted from FEIT for two years
starting from its first profit making year since its
establishment and followed by a 50% tax relief for the
next three years. The fully exempted financial years of
Fujian Changfeng were the year ended 31 December
2007 and 2008, respectively. Fujian Changfeng
continues to enjoy the preferential tax treatment of
12.5% tax rate for each of the years from 2009 to
2011. Thereafter, the tax rate resumed to 25% in
2012,

12. TAXATION 12. i\

2012 2011

=F-=F —F——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBET T ARMTFIT

Tax expense comprises: MIBFAY B1F :

Current tax expense BNHAR: 18 A = 137 22,937
Underprovision in prior year BEFERENR - 706
Deferred taxation (note 19) EIERTE (K1EE19) 966 (1,868)

1,103 21,775

FARAMEHRASERECEMSH - ZRBEIRR
BHE_Z——FK-_FT——F+_fA=+—HIHF
B RABENEEEENERRBRAKRRITHE
25% &t E o

RNRRVER S S MK R BFNEAAEH -

BRBELERIEEGRAR(RELE ) RERT
—R2EMBRR - RRBEKZ -

BIEP RINE D ZEFRBHUE ([N B EEMSF]) -
BEG YR ER R B H A AR A & (@
FIFE R FRMINEI DS - MELE=F
ES50% MG R - BEBGLEZ2 22T RFED 7
AHE_TELFR-_ETENF+_A=+—HL
FE - BERBEZH_TTNFRE_T——F&F
BEZH125%MERHE - Hig AT ——_Fi8
TR AGIRIEZE 25% o
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Under the New Tax Law, withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of
profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not
been provided for in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated distributable profits of
the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
RMB300,414,000 and RMB532,631,000 for the year
ended at 31 December 2012 and 2011 respectively,
as the Company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of temporary differences and it is probable
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-_HF1+-A=1—-ALFE

12. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 12. BiE ()
Longyan Shengfeng Machinery Manufacturing Co., EERERREERRAR ([FEERYE]) KFAHE
Ltd. (“Longyan Shengfeng”) and Kaifeng Changfeng EERERAR([AHBGE)RN=_E—ZFH5IE
Axle Co., Ltd. (“Kaifeng Changfeng”) obtained the FIaIENtEl FE BE-_T——FK=F
certificate of High and New Technology Enterprise in ——F+ - A=t+—HIRMEFENERHR XS A
2010 and the applicable tax rate is 156% for both of 15% e
the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2012.
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the FARRA NGRS ZE B R R ERT AT (EE) &5
(loss) profit before tax per consolidated statement of HERWAT -
comprehensive income as follows:
2012 2011
—E-—fF —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETTT
(Loss) profit before tax LA (E518) &= A (459,635) 81,421
Tax at the domestic income RNE SRS 25% Z AN T I8
tax rate of 25% (114,909) 20,355
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7~ A] F05% 7 32 O B 75 52 25
for tax purpose 36,838 5,796
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERAT MR E R EEENTREE
difference not recognised 38,723 12,175
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised R IERFIBE BN IS 2 40,451 4,051
Utilisation of tax losses previously B R SC AR R I & 18
not recognised - (117)
Underprovision in prior year BEFEREDR - 706
Effect of tax concessions granted to ~ [AIFA BB A AR HFBERNFE
PRC subsidiaries - (21,191)
1,103 21,775

BEFHE BT \F— A —HERTENE
2 E) BT ERER A i A 2R A IR B AR TN AL o B AAA
AR ARG B O A =R BEREEE
AREB TR RS REE - Bt - RERE T HHR
XABMBREE T k=T —F+=H
St HALEMEFERBERTRNB AR R
2 R 3 F 5 Bl 49 A R 5 300,414,000 7T K A R #&
532,631,000 7T A B 1 22 B8 VF HH IR AE B T o
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
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12.

13.

TAXATION (CONTINUED) 12.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had deductible
temporary difference of RMB197,643,000 (2011:
RMB48,700,000) attributable to the impairment
loss on trade receivables. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as, in the opinion of directors,
the utilisation of such temporary difference is remote.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13.
EMOLUMENTS

(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments
The emoluments of the directors and the chief
executive on a name basis are as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2012

Bi1E ()

R-FB-——F+-_A=+—8B AXEEHEHEEH
HRBFEREBEMELEN AT MR ERIEEE
R/ARE19764300T( T ——F: AR%
48,700,0007T) - ANEFRAERXLFTEREER
PRFES - Bt BB R %S A kR B 1 E R
BT IR E E O WRERR ©

EEREEHMH

(a) ESKESTHASNMHE

EERERITHRASME R R EESH i
I

HE-_F-_—Ft+-A=t+t—HLFE

Other emoluments

Fees

ue

RMB’000

AR®T R

Wong Kwai Mo* FAERE -
Wu Ching* HREE -
Lai Feng Cai* FERF -
Dong Ying, Dorothy =55 -
Zhu Wei Zhou KEM -
Li Xiu Qing e -
Chong Ching Hei mEE -

Hiti &
Retirement
Salaries benefits
and other scheme Total
benefits contributions emoluments
gk EBREF
HAibgFl TR H <
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%F T AR¥T T ARBT T
1,261 22 1,283
1,261 22 1,283
126 5 131
78 - 78
78 - 78
78 - 78

2,882 49 2,931
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EEREEFHM(E)
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EBRESTHAENMS (F&)
emoluments (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2011 BE—_T —HF+-A=1—"HLHFE
Other emoluments
H A<
Salaries Retirement
and other benefits scheme Total
Fees benefits contributions emoluments
Fek RIRAEA
Hwe HAb1aF STEIfR RN
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 95

ARETIT ARETTT ARETIT ARETTT

il
HE
Wong Kwai Mo* FAERE - 1,194 10 1,204 1Bt
Wu Ching* iR - 1,194 10 1,204 jé‘f
Lai Feng Cai* FERE - 327 3 330
Dong Ying, Dorothy ] = - - - B
Zhu Wei Zhou KEM - 85 - 85 §
s J
Li Xiu Qing S - 85 - 85 4
Chong Ching Hei mEE - 85 - 85 .
N
o
- 2,970 23 2,993 N
-
* Executive directors * HiTEE
Lai Feng Cai is also the Chief Executive of the BEYTAAATRSITHALR » HR FXH
Company and his emoluments disclosed above EHN S BERBEASSITHA S B HRMHER
include those for services rendered by him as RS o
the Chief Executive.
None of the directors waived any emoluments REBEE-_T——FR_FT——F+_HA=+—
during the years ended 31 December 2012 and HIEFE - EFMERETAIE -

2011.
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 13. EERESHM (&)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEME
During the year ended 31 December 2012, of REBEE_Z——_F+-_A=+—HBILFE &
the five individuals with the highest emoluments SELEGERFALY  HP=R(ZF——
in the Group, three (2011: three) were directors F:ZR)RARAESE - WEHMR LS
of the Company whose emoluments are it @) B - FABATHBEIT -

included in the disclosures in note (a) above.
The emoluments of the five individuals are as

follows:
2012 2011
—E-—F 5
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AREBT T
Salaries and other benefits e R EAMER 3,829 3,386
Discretionary bonus BETEAL - 341
Contributions to retirement BRIREFIET B ALK
benefits scheme 64 37
3,893 3,764
Their emoluments were within the following HERMEN A TEE :
bands:
No. of individuals
EEAZ
2012 2011
—F--F —F—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % 1,000,000 7T (FHERL
(equivalents to approximately ~ ZZ&E AR#%813,5007T)
Nil to RMB813,500) 2 8
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 %7t 2 1,500,000 % 7T
(equivalents to approximately (HBERH AR 813,501 TTE
RMB813,501 to AR 1,220,2507T)
RMB1,220,250) 1 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 %87t 2,000,000 7T
(equivalents to RMB1,220,251  (FEERNK AR 1,220,251 7C
to RMB1,627,000) = AR¥1,627,0007T) 2 -
During both years, no emoluments were paid REME  AEEBBERRAZSSHA LT (8
by the Group to the five highest paid individuals BEENREE) XS AEA I A INAZK
(including directors and employees) as an £ B4R EEE) Sk BERR Hy F1E o

inducement to join or upon joining the Group or
as compensation for loss of office.
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-_Z-—F+-A=t-HLEE

14. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. SR (FE)BF

DA NS SRR (B1R) BRI REA T
B

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based
on the following data:

15.

2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥BFIT
(Loss) earnings for the purposes of (B8 B —GIRER (F58) &7
basic (loss) earnings per share
(Loss) profit for the year attributable A RQE#A AL TR (E518) &7
to owners of the Company (459,351) 59,767 97
il
e
2012 2011 B
—g-—% C_B——% =
B
Number of shares REOEE 5
Number of ordinary shares for LR EE — FRER =
the purposes of basic (loss) (E18) &7 >
earnings per share 800,000,000 800,000,000 .
N
No diluted (loss) earnings per share is presented as AR R R EEE kN ERE RN D T & EM %
the Company did not have any potential ordinary EEDETER ORI EZ2EREE(EE) A ﬂgg

shares in issue during both years or at the end of
each reporting period.

DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or declared by the Company

during the years ended 31 December 2012 and
2011.

15.

Rl o

’E

ARRAMNBE_T——_FR_F——F+_5
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - MERRZE
Furniture,
Motor fixture and Construction
Buildings vehicles  equipment Machinery in progress Total
B %E
BF RE R HE HRIE At

RMBO0O  RMBOOD  RMBOO0  RMBO00  RMBO00  RMB'000
ARBTE  ARBTR  ARETE  ARRTR  ARETR  ARRTR

COST 53
At 31 December 2010 and RZZ-BE+ZA=1-H
1 January 2011 R=E—%-f-A 171,726 5,575 4,083 205,328 64,185 450,897
Additions HE 2,943 584 1480 119,661 127,782 252,450
Transfer g3 47,690 - - 6,427 (54,117) -
98 Disposal s - - - (6,019 - (6,019)
= At 31 December 2011 and R-E——E+-A=1-H
= 1 January 2012 R-E-—%-F-H 222,359 6,159 5,563 325,307 137,850 697,328
El Additions RE 39,973 183 924 37,99 72,130 151,206
Z Transfer 22 85,463 - 50 41429 (126,942) =
s Disposal e - - - (14,155) = (14,155)
= At 31 Decerber 2012 RZF-ZF+ZA=1-A 347,79 6,342 6,537 390,667 83,038 834,379
3
g ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZiHERH(E
= AND IMPAIRMENT
3 At 31 December 2010 and R-F-FF+-A=1-H
g 1 January 2011 R=E—%-f-A 15,663 503 1,140 37,266 - 54,572
- Provided for the year FREE 7,140 873 1,004 22,804 - 31,821
5 Disposal e - - - (1,540) - (1,540)
é‘? At 31 December 2011 and R-E——E+-A=1-H
S 1 January 2012 R-E-—%-F-H 22,803 1376 2,144 58,530 - 84,853
2 Provided for the year EREE 7974 962 869 26,799 - 36,604
Impairment loss recognised RERPBRNAEFSE
in proft or loss 53,027 106 499 82,368 - 136,000
Disposal e - - - (1,254) = (1,254)
At 31 December 2012 RIE—Z5+ZA=1-H 83,804 2,444 3,512 166,443 - 256,203
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2012 RZF-Z&+-fA=1-H 263991 3,898 3,02 224,224 83,038 578,176
At 31 December 2011 RZE—4F+ZA=+-H 199,556 4,783 3419 266,867 137,850 612,475
The above items of property, plant and equipment, BIEZTRUIINA FYE BERLEEB &
other than construction in progress, are depreciated BRI EEE WA T RA G SR E

on straight-line basis at the following rates after
taking into account residual values:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Buildings Over the shorter of the term of lease, or 4.5%
Motor vehicles 18%
Furniture, fixture and equipment 18%
Machinery 9%

The Group has pledged certain buildings to secure
general banking facilities grant to the Group at the
end of each reporting period as detailed in note 24.

For the year ended 31 December 2012, as the Group
incurred loss before tax of RMB168,743,000 before
the impairment of RMB136,000,000 recognised
in respect of property, plant and equipment and
impairment loss on trade and other receivables of
RMB154,892,000, the directors of the Company
considered this was an impairment indicator.
Thus, the directors of the Company conducted an
impairment assessment on the Group’s property,
plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments.
With reference to the valuation report issued by an
independent valuer, the recoverable amounts of the
relevant assets have been determined on the basis of
the value in use calculation using a pre-tax discount
rate of 13.25%. This calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial forecasts approved by
management of the Group covering five years with
the cash flows beyond such period are extrapolated
using a steady growth rate till the end of useful lives
of the relevant assets. Key assumptions for the
value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflow/outflows which include budgeted sales
and gross margin, such estimation is based on the
management’s expectations for the prospective
market and market development. The value-in-
use calculation of the relevant assets exceeds their
carrying amounts by RMB136,000,000 and hence
an impairment loss of RMB136,000,000 has been
recognised for the year ended 31 December 2012.
The directors of the Company made reference to the
recent market prices of the leasehold land located
in the similar location as the Group’s leasehold
land on which the property, plant and equipment is
situated and concluded no impairment on prepaid
lease payments is required. The entire amount
of the impairment loss has been allocated to the
Group’s property, plant and equipment. Also, the
management of the Group has considered the
fair value less cost to sell of property, plant and
equipment, which are lower than the value in use.

16.

TR R M

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-Z-——F+t-A=t—HLFE

Y3 - R Rk ()

1gF RREAERR - 5k4.5%
B 18%
R HERZ 18%
Hees 9%

RERERR  AEECHEFETET  UESE
FTARKEN—RRITERLE - FHISRME24 -

REBEE=ZT——F+=-A=1+—HILFE  ARE
RUE - BE &REHREARE 136,000,000 7T
B 5 Kk H b fE WS IR R B B 18 A R 154,892,000
ﬁzm'$%@§$%ﬁmEEAE%m&mam0
T ARBEEBZRAREDR - At - AR
ETHAEENME - BE KK ﬁu&ﬁﬁﬁgm
TEEST TRERE - BRE—BBYAEMEAEZE
ERE  HBAEEZ TN ESEERERTATITER
KA325%TEMFEAEEERE - ZTEHENE
AARSEEREMEREAFUBKTEN RS RE

Bl MzBEzINZBe R MEREERBEE
FAFHAERKBZETEREMN - FABEE
FEZEBREBEBSHRA S RHGTAER  BEE
HHERBIREN - ZEF HKIBEEREESRRR TS
kmEER2ES - HBEENEAEETEBY
HEEMEE A R # 136,000,000 © BREEEAR
#136,000,000 TERBE—E——F+-_A=+—
HIEFERR  ARARERLREEYE  BEK
REFENANEERE RN AR MRS i
IMEATHERS ﬁ%ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁg RIEHEE R B o B
EREBBRREEIEEAEENME - BE KX
& e %%'$El%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ$@ﬁmﬁxﬁ
B RGRAEHER A (KRR EAEE) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE_Z-—_H+-A=1+—-RALFE

17. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 17. AMHEENSR
RMB’000
AR¥ETT
At 1 January 2011 nNZ—ZE——F—H—H 297,177
Additions NE 9,906
Released to profit or loss R (6,144)
At 31 December 2011 R=ZE——F+=A=+—H
and 1 January 2012 r=—ZF——%F—H—H 300,939
Additions NE 9,263
Released to profit or loss BRI (6,236)
At 31 December 2012 R_FB——F+-_A=+—H 303,966
00
) 2012 2011
E =F-=F —F——F
) RMB’000 RMB’000
> ARBTR | ARKBTE
© Analysed for reporting purpose: FLERER B MDA
3 Current assets RENEE 6,236 6,203
g Non-current assets FRBEE 297,730 294,736
2 303,966 300,939
[
3
g At 31 December 2012, the Group’s prepaid lease N-E——FE+—-A=+—8 A£EYELHEES
. payments comprise medium-term lease leasehold R EEAI A B AR B4 S 3 o
z land located in PRC.
> Prepaid lease payments are released to profit or loss FERFAERZAN F45E50F HFAHA R 1825 o
g over the lease terms ranging from 45 to 50 years.
= The Group is in process of obtaining the land NEBEEE BT L E AR AT
use right certificate of a parcel of land included in HEZmE R-E——F+-A=+—HBHEH
prepaid lease payments with carrying amount of B4 B ARKA40000T(—ZT——F: ARK

approximately RMB4,009,000 at 31 December 2012 4,091,0007T) ©
(2011: RMB4,091,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B R KM=

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

Equity investment fund RAKERES
The fair value of the above investment is determined
based on the price quoted by a bank, the fund
issuer.

HELD FOR TRADING INVESTMENTS

Wealth management products B m

The amount represents units subscribed in the
wealth management products managed by a
financial institution in the PRC.

The return of the investment fund is based on the
yield as quoted by the financial institution.

The fair value is measured at the subscription price
provided by the financial institution at the end of the
reporting period.

The investment was subsequently redeemed for cash
in January 2013 at RMB20 million.

18.

18a.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-_Z-—F+-A=t-HLEE

AfHERE
2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR | ARBTE
- 1,000

R ENRFETDRERIT(ESETA)NORE
BT -

BHIFEERE
2012 2011
—E-—-F =E5——_E
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TF T ARBFIT
20,000 -

ZEEERETE X EEZEMERZ

B o
REES ZOHIDERN S REBIIR Yas -

RHETDZESBEBRN RS ARARM 2 RBER
% o

HRERRR =

JCHEE ©

T—=F-AUREARK208E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-Z-——F+=-A=+—HLEE

19. DEFERRED TAX 19. BEEHIE

Revaluation
of identifiable Unrealised
assets and profit for
liabilities inventories Total
EfTEA FERSR
BEERAE Pk ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT
02 At 1 January 2011 RZEZ—F—H—H 865 - 865
Credit to profit or loss MIEEERSI S 85 (17) (1,851) (1,868)
At 31 December 2011 RZZE—F+=-A=+—H
and 1 January 2012 ;r=—F——F—HF—H 848 (1,851) (1,003)
(Credit) charge to profit ~ MMEZEER (FFA) FII 32 84
or loss (83) 999 966
At 31 December 2012~ RZZE—-F+-HA=+—H 815 (852) 37)
The revaluation of the prepaid lease payments, 7 NHEENK BT  #5 7F K- KER
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The following are the major deferred tax liabilities
(assets) recognised and movement thereon during
the years ended 31 December 2012 and 2011:

buildings, machinery, motor vehicles, furniture,
fixtures and equipment and inventories was arisen
from the acquisition of a subsidiary, Longyan
Shengfeng in prior years.

The tax losses are principally attributable to
subsidiaries in the PRC with no deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the tax losses,
due to the unpredictability of future profits streams.
The tax losses of the PRC subsidiaries can be carried
forward for five years.

As at 31 December 2012, the Group had deductible
temporary difference of RMB197,643,000 (2011:

NTREERNIBECHEARE(BE) RERE
S _i—_i)&_f——i‘i—_ﬂ =t—BIEFE

E/J “=%

REARFENEHERABEFERE—HHBER

A EEDILE

BABEEERGTENBAT EEJ‘EA*I}E&%UE’J

ARTFERAE - B 3 R LA TR R 1R AR

EIEFIEE

ZE - TEMEARNHABRAAERE -

RZFB-—F+-_A=+—H0 XKEEHEERES

EURBEREBEEMEENATNREREZEAR

RMB48,700,000) attributable to the impairment ¥ 197,643,000 T ( = ZF ——4 : AR ¥ 48,700,000
loss on trade receivables. No deferred tax asset TL) c BREER AT RS T E KR A] se i

has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as, in the opinion of directors,
the utilisation of such temporary difference is remote.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised.

FEM - B\ R %S AN T = R AERIE
EHMIBEE - EERELCHALE -
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19. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 19. ELEHIE (F)

The Group has no other significant unprovided

deferred tax for the years ended 31 December 2012

and 2011.

The Group had unrecognised tax losses as follows:

At 1 January 2011

W=E——F—F—A

FE  AEESEEMEORBRBRETHEA -

AEEREA R RERHAEROT -

RMB’000 Expiry date
ARETTT FIEAH

4,637 2014-2015

Addition-PRC subsidiaries NE — R EAR 14,633
Addition-Hong Kong subsidiary RNE—BBHRBAR 1,570
Utilised EFA (467)

At 31 December 2011
and 1 January 2012

RZFBE——F+=-_A=+—H
r—ZT——%—F—H

20,373 2015-2016

Addition-PRC subsidiaries NE — B AR 160,270
Addition-Hong Kong subsidiary RNE —BBHB AR 1,534

At 31 December 2012

RZE—=—F+=-A=+—H

182,177 2016-2017

20. INVENTORIES 20. 7E

2012 2011

—E--F =%

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETT ARETTT

Raw materials R 119,150 111,027
Work-in-progress M 86,796 80,423
Finished goods BURK i 72,787 132,292

278,733 323,742
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-Z-——F+=-A=+—HLEE

21. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables comprise the following:

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIA
Less: impairment loss on

trade receivables

Bills receivable ENEE
Other receivables HAtb U GRIA
Advances to suppliers ) (L FE P EA K
Prepaid expenses TES R

VAT-in recoverable
Total trade and other receivables

At the end of the reporting period, trade receivables
with outstanding amount of RMB58,369,000 (2011:
RMB73,739,000) have been factored to certain
banks. The Group continues to present the factored
trade receivables as trade receivables until maturity.

At the end of the reporting period, bills receivable
with outstanding amount of RMB55,266,000
(2011: RMB101,504,000) have been endorsed to
certain creditors. The Group continues to present
the endorsed bills as bills receivable until maturity
and continues to present the cash received on the
transfer as trade payables.

The Group allows an average credit period of 90-
120 days to its trade customers. The aging analysis
of trade receivables and bills receivable is presented
based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period.

IEER - AKE
B 5 M EM R IR

EZRWRIA - BRRER L EYRRKIE

B REMBWFIAREATEE

B SRR EE R

2012 2011
—EB-—F —F——%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T AREFIT

453,040 532,112
(197,643) (48,700)

255,397 483,412

108,818 218,247

13,313 6,321

88,783 100,795

1,978 3,057

32,460 25,548

%A 500,749 837,380

RBERHR REEEZRURREARYE
58,369,000t (=& ——% : AR#73,739,0007T)
BETRITRAKER - AEEAEKFREE ZEK
FAZIREZEEGIR - BB BRI -

REpEHR - REZERERZE AR 55,266,000
T(ZZ——%F : AR¥101,504,00070) EEETH
TFiHER AEBEESCEEEZBEURKEERS
NEZFHBE AL REESEREREUIRENE S
FEUFIEZF ©

AEEMHEESEFIRHEIE120RHTIHEE -
B 5 R WGRIR I IR B A R D T IR BN &
RHBZHMZS -
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TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The aging of trade receivables (net of impairment
loss on trade receivables) is presented based on
the invoice date, which approximated the respective
revenue recognition date as follows:

0 to 90 days 0&E90H

91 to 120 days 91 & 120H
121 to 180 days 121 £180H
180 to 365 days 180£ 365 H
Over 365 days 365 B A £

The aging of bills receivable is as follows:

0 to 90 days 0&E90H
91 to 120 days 912 120H
121 to 180 days 1212180 H

Before accepting any new customers, the Group
has assessed the potential customer’s credit quality
and defined credit limit of each customer. Limits
attributed to customers are reviewed once a year.

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable,
a committee of the Group (the “Committee”), that is
responsible for understanding background, financial
strength, sales and repayment ability of each debtor,
regularly reviewed recoverability of trade receivables
(including regularly communicating with individual
debtor, holding internal meeting to discuss and
analyse the status of each individual debtor, and
seeking for lawyer review on the status of debtor
with financial or operational problems). Based on the
nature of customers, the Committee classified the
customers to different portfolios for analysis.

21.

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-_HF1+-A=1—-ALFE

EZRWKIEA - BRREREEYKE (&)

R A (B B S TR R BIAE) 2B 5
FEMCHIE (31 B B M SR BB 1) MR S AT
o

2012 2011
—EB-—F —F——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
100,367 115,713
11,242 42,149
40,937 119,234
72,889 199,292
29,962 7,024
255,397 483,412
JEWEIRMBRER DTN T ¢
2012 2011
—E-—F —F——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
91,670 173,021
8,698 31,093
8,450 14,133
108,818 218,247

REZEMHEFH - ARECHEEETPNE
EEERBEFPHNEREERE - K TEFPHORE
SEFEEM—K-

REEEE 5 REGRN A R E T - AEENE R
2((ZEBENRETHSEBANESR UHKE
N HERERED - EHRE S EKGRR
WElE (BREEREERNESABR  BITANER
A R & EES AR RFREMEERD
ARMFHRAKLLRE) - REFTFHEE - £8
SREPABRTEBSIAED -
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
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21.

TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

[t was noted by the Committee that some of the
debtors had financial problems and the recoverability
of these receivables were low, and a report was
prepared by the Committee suggesting a provision
of RMB197,643,000 based on an analysis of the
recoverability by customer portfolio. The analysis
was based on the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at individual debtors original
effective interest rate, together with the subsequent
settlement and aging of individual debtors. The
board of directors has reviewed the report of the
Committee and considered the provision suggested
is adequate but not excessive.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately RMB155,030,000 and RMB367,699,000
at 31 December 2012 and 2011, respectively,
which are past due for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss as continuous
business relationship and subsequent settlement of
RMB57,300,000 is noted from those debtors and the
remaining amounts are still considered recoverable
based on historical experience.

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

91 to 120 days 91&120H
121 to 180 days 121 £180H
181 to 365 days 181 £ 365 H
Over 365 days 365 B A £

21.

EZRWKIEA - BRREREEYKE (&)

ZRESRERSEBATEYHEERZFRUGK
EE R BEEEN  RESREEE  REREF
MEBAREEMMEZDMERFLBREBARE
197,643,0007C ° & 2 #T D ERE R EH ARKE
BRAZFBEFRKRERBESL - fTRERS
BREREFANKR EFSCEHNZREENR
T RRERRBRRERMAEES -

AAREEESRRFELEHRAER T ——F K=
T——FF+_A=+—HEAFEHEDNHNARE
155,030,000 7T & A & # 367,699,000 7T A f& U2 Bk
o ZERKERE BN HHARYZEEBAR
BB XTSRRI A R ¥ 57,300,000 7T &
BRIEBELR R FRBEDEEAATKRE - AL
RNEBI AP ZEFBIEH RERIERE -

BEAHERRENE S EUISEREDT -

2012 2011
—E-—F —F——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
11,242 42,149
40,937 119,234
72,889 199,292
29,962 7,024
155,030 367,699
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TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Movement in the impairment loss on trade
receivables

1 January —H—H
Impairment loss recognised
on receivables

Amounts recovered during the year
31 December

Included in the impairment loss on trade receivables
are individually impaired trade receivables with
an aggregate balance of RMB197,643,000
(2011:RMB48,700,000) which have delayed
payments or ceased business relationship.

TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group’s financial assets
as at 31 December 2012 that were transferred
to banks or suppliers by factoring or discounting
those receivables on a full recourse basis. As the
Group has not transferred the significant risks and
rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to
recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables
and has recognised the cash received on the transfer
as a secured borrowing (see note 24) or trade
payables, respectively. These financial assets are
carried at amortised cost in the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position.

FABWKEFA

+=—A=+—H

21.
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-_HF1+-A=1—-ALFE

EZRWKIEA - BRREREEYKE (&)

B 5 R E R s R 2

JE WA 2 B ERIRE B 1R

2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR | ARBTE
48,700 -
154,892 48,700
(5,949) -
197,643 48,700

STAE SREWFIEREESE AT R IEER
BENEREREEZ ZEKGNIE @ BHRETARE
197,643,0007L( — T — — 4 : A R # 48,700,000
JT) °

HECREE

UTARAEER-_Z——F+_A=+—HHER
BE  TDEBREMEREERELURZETES
FEWGRIARRT TR E R EE - AN ARE Y EE
BRZEZFRWKIREBzEARRED® - E
SRETBHEARE ZREFIANKREE - LEER
REBBRMEEHIRE 2 BIERB ERER (RME
2HHENEZEN - ZEERMEERAEERAR
AR R IZE PR ANASR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-Z-——F+=-A=+—HLEE

21A. TRANSFER OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

22.

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 December 2012

Carrying amount of EEEEREE
transferred assets

Carrying amount of B EREE
associated liabilities

Net position FREE

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Bank and cash of the Group comprise bank balance
and cash. The deposits carry interest rate ranging
from 0.01% to 4.75% (2011: 0.01% to 5.5%).

Pledged bank deposits represent amounts deposited
with banks as security for the banks accepted
bills issued to its suppliers for the purchase of raw
materials. Pledged bank deposits carry interest rates
ranging from 2.85% to 3.3% per annum for the year
ended 31 December 2011. The pledge has been
released during the year.

21A. BEEREE (&)

Trade Bills

receivables receivables

factored to endorsed to

banks with suppliers with
full recourse full recourse Total

BREM REMEER

BREKTHR RHEFES
EWE 5 R IE HIFE W 1B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T ARET T
58,369 55,266 113,635
(51,560) (55,266) (106,826)
6,809 - 6,809

22,

BIEMBITER RITERRES

RNEBRTEARRESBRBITHEBRIES - %7
TN TF0.01% E4.75% MKt B (ZF——4F ¢
0.01% & 5.5%) °

EEMBITFRARRFARTUESRITERAE
HEFZELABERMBNRENSENER - 8
E-T——F+_A=1T—HLEFE BEPRT
TFHIRN T 2.85% £ 3.3% B FF K& 8 o ZIRIEM
ERFRERER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B R KM=

23. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade and other payables comprise the following:

Trade payables B SN RIA
Bills payable ENZE
Advances from customers RERFRRK

Payables for property, plant
and equipment

Payroll and welfare payables

Warranty accrual (note)

e T& K@

Other accruals HAbfERTSRIA
Other tax payable HAbpERTHIE
Other payables HAbfEFRIA

Note: Movement of warranty provision is as follows:

23.

RIERERT R (M5E)

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-_Z-—F+-A=t-HLEE

EZRENFR  BENRBERHEMBENTR

BHREMENTIAEEEANEE

M - BB KR BN FOR

2012 2011
—EB-—F —F——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
100,193 167,765

- 20,100

100,193 187,865
12,997 5,321
7,155 19,142
7,761 4,415
1,065 1,088
20,586 13,704
8,935 5,659
6,873 4,604
165,565 241,798

Bt - RIEFEBRIZBIAT -

Warranty provision

RisRE

RMB’000

AREFIT

At 1 January 2011 R=—FT—F—HA—H 1,039

Additional provision in the year FNFEINE 8,682

Utilisation of provision )RS (8,633)
At 31 December 2011 and RZE——F+ZA=+—HBK

1 January 2012 —ET——F—A—H 1,088

Additional provision in the year FNFRIME 8,194

Utilisation of provision B RS (8,217)

At 31 December 2012 R_ZF——F+=-A=+—H 1,065

At 31 December 2012 and 2011, the warranty provision
represents management’s best estimate of the Group’s
liability under 6-month warranty granted on products,
based on prior experience and industry practice for
defective products.

R-F——FR_F——F+_A=+—H REEE
JEEIE [ AL B G dn e LA 7 ML (RIS BT AR SR B
YR (E (AT WA BEASR R B RRIEERA TR
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
BE-Z-——F+-A=t+—-HItEE

23. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. ESEMANEA BENREBRAMENSTE(H)

(CONTINUED)

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,
presented based on invoice date, at the end of each

reporting period:

UTRRERERRNESENFA(RERAHZE

51) BOBRER DA -

2012 2011
—E—_fF —E——F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AREF T

Within 30 days 30HA 16,790 70,153

31 to 60 days 31ZE60H 3,491 35,916

61 to 90 days 61290 H 3,057 31,972

10 91 to 180 days 91 & 180 H 11,250 11,790
181 to 365 days 181 % 365 H 10,339 17,934

44,927 167,765
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The following is an aging analysis of bills payable,
presented based on issuance date, at the end of
each reporting period:

UTAREREMRNENRBE(RETEHZD)
HRRER DA

2012 2011
—EB-——F —F——%F

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T ARET T

Within 30 days 30 B 10,810 =
31 to 60 days 31ZE60H 13,760 =
61 to 90 days 61290 H 17,249 =
91 to 180 days 91ZE 180 H 13,447 20,100
55,266 20,100

Trade payables and bills payable principally comprise
amounts outstanding for purchase of goods. The
credit period for purchase of goods is between 30 to
180 days.

BHRNFALENEEIZERGERBEERE
B BEEMNEERNFI0E180H8 -
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-—_HS+-A=1—-ALFE

24. BORROWINGS 24. B
2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AREBT T
Bank borrowings RITE 472,600 480,928
Other borrowings HE 13,000 15,000
498,560 495,928
Unsecured AR 78,000 105,000
Secured B 420,560 390,928
498,560 495,928
Carrying amount repayable: FEEERAE : &
i
Within one year R—ER 498,560 447,968 i
More than one year, but no il —FE T BBMFE B
exceeding two years - 47,960
at
498,560 495,928 -
Less: Amount due within one year W AR —FERNEENSRE el
shown under current liabilities (RRBEEZ7) (498,560) (447,968) -
(]
Amount shown under non-current JEmBAEIE TSR g
liabilities - 47,960 Py
All borrowings are denominated in RMB, carry fixed FrAEZ A RKSE - LEEH RSB RR S
interest rates and shown under current liabilities. FHEaBEE o
The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also NEBEERNTER R (EITEZERA G =Z) 1
equal to contractual interest rates) on the Group’s T
borrowings are as follows:
2012 2011
—E-—-F =Eg——r_E
Fixed-rate borrowings BB 5.88%-7.872% 4.05%-7.225%
per annum per annum

FRR FRER
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for the year ended 31 December 2012
BECR-——H+-A=1+—-HLFE

24. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 24. B (&)
The borrowings are secured by the following: BREBNA T ARER
2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥BFIT
Type A A%E 420,560 377,844
Type B BiE - 13,084
420,560 390,928
Type A: Borrowings were secured by certain AKE EHAREFETFEEMEE (fizE1) o
assets of the Group (note 1).
12
9 Type B:  Borrowings were secured by bills B : E2h A FE U E I EE(R o
2 receivable.
:D)(> Note 1: The Group has pledged certain assets to secure Vi KB [B] 2 HEHAE T 28 B L 1 5 [F) 7 22 [ 15 M B 3R
o banking facilities granted to the Group. The RN BIIEIR o DR B ELBEETELT T -
? carrying values of the assets pledged are as
= follows:
e
é 2012 2011
2 S —T——%
g RMB’000 RMB’000
= AR¥T T AREFT
-
> Buildings BF 96,773 62,409
g Machinery sz 44,829 47,423
> Land use rights + i fE AR 84,225 86,038
B Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 58,369 73,739
% 284,196 269,609
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26.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B R KM=

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-_HF1+-A=1—-ALFE

SHARE CAPITAL 25, B
Number
of shares Amount
idnip =] ot
US$’000
FET
Ordinary shares of the United LBk ASREE0.01ET
States dollars (“US$”) US$0.01 each  ([Z7T))
Authorised: JETE -
At 31 December 2011, R-_E—F+—-_HA=+—8 -
1 January 2012 and —ET——F—H—H
31 December 2012 r=—E——F+=-A=+—H 5,000,000,000 50,000
Issued & fully paid: BERTRHE -
At 31 December 2011, R-_Z——F+—-_fF=+—H -
1 January 2012 and —E——F—-A—HAK
31 December 2012 —T——F+-_fF=+—H 800,000,000 8,000
2012 & 2011
—E—FR
—E——F
RMB’000
AREFIT
Shown on the consolidated REFE I EIRA R ES
statement of financial position 53,560

SHARE-AWARD SCHEME

The Company’s share award scheme (the
“Scheme”), was approved and adopted pursuant
to a resolution passed on 30 August 2012. The
Company resolved that a sum of HK$10,000,000
be provided to the Share Award Scheme for the
purchase of shares of US$0.01 each in the capital
of the Company. Such Shares will be awarded to
the selected employees to be selected by the board,
or the Executive Committee acting on behalf of the
board, for the purpose of recognising contributions
of and giving incentive to the selected employees in
order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Company.

26.

MRt R B 5t &

AARBRBER-_ZE-——F\A=1+THBBZRE
7 o U R RBEDAT BI([5181)) - KRR
SR PATRI RS A7) 22 B 5+ 8 2 14 A 48 88 10,000,000 78 TT 8
BEARRAIRARFREERC.01XTHD « ZFR
DHAREEESFEXINEREFTENNTERES
BEMARES  URBEMAERERMAEZZA
BESRANRNFELLE RBEREBREER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements %5 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HE-—Z-——F+=-A=t+—HLEE

26. SHARE-AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

27.

At the date of adoption of the Scheme, the
maximum number of shares that can be purchased
approximately to 19,230,000 shares, represents
approximately 2.4% of the issued share capital of the
Company. During the year, 2,832,000 shares have
been purchased by the trustee through the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited under the Scheme:

Month of purchase

BEAH

November 2012 e

No shares have been granted to selected employees
during the year ended 31 December 2012.

OPERATING LEASE

Minimum lease payments paid under operating
leases in respect of office premises amounted to
RMB189,000 and RMB642,000 for the year ended
31 December 2012 and 2011 respectively.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
had commitments for future lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:

—FR

Within one year
In the second to fifth year inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rental payable
by the Group for certain office premises and
warehouse properties. Leases are negotiated for a
term of 1 to 2 years with fixed rate.

26. R EREEE (&)

27.

F_FEELF (BREEMSF)

REMZTEMBAE  AIEENEaRNDBEENA
19,230,000 8% © #IEAR AR E BT AR 2.4% ° F
N XEABRBZTEBRESHAERZANER
AR E 2,832,000 A% :

No. of ordinary Average
shares of price Aggregate
US$0.01 each per share consideration paid
SRR 0.01 X TH BRAFY eff
LERNRO#E B REASE
HK$ RMB'000
BT ARETT
2,832,000 % 0.7 1,627

RBE-Z-——F+_A=+—HLFE ALER
BE NEEERDRN

KeRa
RERAENENCEHESNNRERENTR

BHE_T——_FR_ZF——F+A=+—HILHF
FE 5 Bl A AR # 189,000 7T & A R ¥ 642,000 7T °

REREHRR  ARERETARELLEHEN R
KEEMNFAENBERDT

2012 2011
—E——F — T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETT
128 332

10 -

REHENFEARERETHRAENEREHEY
EEMNMEE  BER - FEMFHERRABEE
HEREE -
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29,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-—_HS+-A=1—-ALFE

OTHER COMMITMENTS 28. Hft#EiE
2012 2011
—B-=fF —E——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREF T
Capital expenditure in respect of ISR S R B2 E AR
acquisition of plant and machinery —BEIHERR
— contracted for but not provided A TSRS
in the consolidated financial (Hf¥=E)
statements (note) 28,635 13,833
Capital expenditure in respect of m—EMB AR
capital contribution to a subsidiary FEMEARRYS
— contracted for but not provided —BEIHERRERE T
in the consolidated financial wMEEE
statements 60,000 60,000

Note: The capital expenditure is related to the construction
of production facilities for expansion of the Group’s
operation.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant
payroll costs to the Scheme, which contribution is
matched by employees.

The employees of the Group are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit scheme operated by
the PRC government. The Company’s subsidiaries
are required to contribute a certain percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to make
the required contributions under the scheme.

29.

Biat: B A A R X 1 7 A B £ R

RUKBRGE

AEESMBEAEBNEBRERYBHMERES
- ZAEMEERASBEEENF - WHIEE
AEHINESRE - AEBIRBEREF KA 5% M
Bl - BB MR B -

AEENREE RATEBRMEENBERERRAKE
MEEIMKE - AAFIMBARARTEXRANSE
TADEAERENGEEFARERERNES - &
SEFRKENF B - BT AELFEE D
HIER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &4 B #3RRMzE

for the year ended 31 December 2012
BECR-——H+-A=1+—-HLFE

30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Group had the following transactions with related
parties:

(@

The amount due to a director as at 31
December 2011 was interest free, unsecured
and repayable on demand. Amount was fully
repaid during the year.

During the years ended 31 December 2012
and 2011, the Group entered into the following
significant transaction with a director:

BEARE
FHEREE

Purchase of motor vehicle
Mr. Wong Kwai Mo

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other
members of key management during the years
ended 31 December 2012 and 2011 was as
follows:

pSE LR
RIREF

Short-term benefits
Post-employment benefits

30.

BEATRE

AREBDETATHEALRS ¢

@)

RIB——F+_A=+—HEN—RBEEK
BRRE  BEWRRERER - ZEFED
RERBBEE -

RBE-F—FR-F—F+_A=+—
AILFE  AEEREFETUTEARS -

2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®TR | ARBTE

- 1,600

TREEASHM

RBE-_F——FR-_F——F+_A=+—
AILFE EXERAMERER AR
T

2012 2011
—E——F —T——%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥ETT
3,943 3,779

68 38

4,011 3,817
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PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 31. KMEARFHE
The Company has the following indirectly held, RAREBUTHEERE (BEZERERIN) S
unless otherwise stated, subsidiaries: N
Place and date Issued and Effective equity interest
of incorporation/ fully paid share/ attributable to the Group
Name of subsidiary establishment registered capital as at 31 December Principal activities
R/ BRTRERERS/ RTZA=t-A%KE
WEARER RUEER A H R ELERRAES TEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# 3
2012 2011 2012 201
ZF-CF T2 F ZR-2f 2T F
Changfeng Holding Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100% - = Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 14 February 2008 10,0007 REBR

BLRRERERA &b
“ZZ\5-f+ImA

Fujian Changfeng Axle PRC RMB813,000,000 - - 100% 100% Manufacture and
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 5 March 2001 AEK 813,000,000 sale of axle and i
FRPYEREEARLA @ related components )
il HERKESR
REEZH 2
i
Longyan Shengfeng PRC RMB356,000,000 - - 100% 100% Manufacture and >
Machinery Manufacturing 29 March 2006 K 356,000,000 sale of roughcast 2
Co,, Ltd, HE HERHEER -
EEBRERRYEERAT  —EEAEZA-tAA %
Kaifeng Changfeng PRC RMB375,000,000 - - 100% 100% Manufacture and 2@
Axle Co., Ltd. 19 April 2006 AR 375,000,000 sale of axle
FHEYEEARAA i HERBEER
ZEZEMATAA
Kalfeng Changfeng Machinery ~ PRC RMB50,000,000 - - 100% - Manufacture and sale
Manufacturing Co., Lid. 9 August 2012" ARE50,000,0007C of train bolster, train side
FHGERASEERAR A frame and related train
—Z-—&\ANA* components
EREESBET
REE R R
e
Beijing Changfeng Axle PRC RMB1,000,000 - = 100% 100% Research and
Research Institution Co., Ltd. 6 July 2010 AE%1,000,0007C development
RGeS R G of axle and related
“Z-ZELARA components
HEBER
RESHH
Sichuan Changfeng PRC RMB160,000,000 - - 100% 100% Manufacture and
Axe Co., Lid, 16 July 2009 AR 160,000,00070 sale of axle
M GEERERAR el HERKESR
ZEENECATAA
Changfeng Gear PRC RMB100,000,000 - - 60% 60% Manufacture and sale
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 21 July 2011 AE100,000,0007T of axle
BRGEERERAR G HERBESE
ZE—HtAZTA

* Incorporated in 2012. * R-F— ek v
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32. FINANCIAL SUMMARY OF THE COMPANY 32. ARATHMBEHE
RESULTS E
2012 2011
=F-=F —F——F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Administrative expenses 1THRE X (6,274) (15,252)
Interest income M EWA - -
Loss for the year FANEE (6,274) (15,252)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES SERAR
18 2012 2011
5 —E——fF —E——%F
E RMB’000 RMB’000
2 AR®TT  ARBTL
>
o NON-CURRENT ASSET FERBEE
g Investment in a subsidiary R—ENBRRRKE 863,894 863,894
g CURRENT ASSET REEE
3 Bank balance IRITEE R 667 1,975
g CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAE
) Other payables E b e FIE 8,849 10,041
. Amount due to a subsidiary e —REN B A RRIE 20,281 12,496
g 29,130 20,537
B
3 Net current liabilities ME BT (28,463) (20,562)
S Total assets less current liabilities BEERRSEE 835,431 843,332
OWNERS’ EQUITY B AR
Share capital &N 53,560 53,560
Reserves (et 781,871 789,772
835,431 843,332




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements &5 B ®R M=

33. RESERVES

At 1 January 2011
Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

At 31 December 2011 and
1 January 2012

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

Purchase of shares for the
purpose of awarded shares
compensation scheme (note 26)

At 31 December 2012

for the year ended 31 December 2012
HEZ-—_HS+-A=1—-ALFE

33. &
Shares
held under
awarded
Share Capital shares Accumulated
premium reserve compensation deficits Total
REXRB
IR A0 SN =t &
R EE BRAfEE HEHRG Rt B4 &t

RMB'000 ~ RMB000 ~ RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTTE  ARMTR AREBTT ARBTT ARETE

(Note)
LiE3)
RZT——%F—H—H 599,296 226,982 - (21,720) 804,558
FABBEREE
R B%E - = = (14,786) (14,786)
RZZ—F+=A
e e =3
—Z——%—f—H 599,296 226,982 = (36,506) 789,772
FABEEEE
ke - - - (6,274) (6,274)
St EREDAR D FR BT 2
BERD (M 26)
= = (1,627) = (1,627)
RZT—=F
+=-H=+—H~ 599,296 206,982 (1,627) (42,780) 781,871

Note: The balance represents deemed distribution, transfer
and deemed contribution arising group reorganisation for
listing purposes which took place in 2008 and 2009.

Hist : ZAERIER = EENFR -FEENFR LT EHBMET
REBHERFELAIRIED IR - BRERELH -
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5-Year Financial Summary ZFHBHE

Year ended 31 December
BZE+-A=1+—HILEE
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
—EEN\F ZETNF E2-TF —T—F ZEB-F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARETRT ARETT ARBTT AR®TxR

RESULTS E4
Revenue U 25 417,830 801,151 1,318,709 920,681 503,841
Profit (loss) before tax FR A% A& A
(E18) 93,170 190,912 335,565 81,421 (459,635)
Income tax (expense) charge FT{S%: (B ) R (1,593) (28,128) (49,890) (21,775) (1,103)
20 Profit (loss) for the year F Nm ) (E5i8) 91,577 162,784 285,675 59,646 (460,738)
At 31 December
R+t=A=+—8H
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

—2ENF ZTENGF TTF —T——F —ZE--F
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETT AR%®TR

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ERARE

Total assets BEMAE 575,933 1,006,422 2,079,087  2.305,591 1,764,871
Total liabilities BfERE (294,045) (481,750) (616,227) (743,011) (664,656)
Net assets BEFE 281,888 524,672 1,462,860 1,562,580 1,100,215
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This report is published in both English and Chinese RIRE X IEE 5 IR - TEIEX RER a8 7 TE
languages. Should there be any inconsistency between WEHF - A o

the Chinese and English versions, the English version shall

prevail.
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